MOUNT CARMEL

%,o/nrc 7o pa ¥ o oot 460 T)

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING AGENDA

10.

1.

May 22, 2025 - 5:30 P.M.
City Hall, 100 Main Street E.

Call to Order

Invocation

Pledge of Allegiance
Roll Call

Welcome from the Mayor

Approval and/or Correction of the minutes of the Board of Mayor and Aldermen Meeting dated April 24,
2025, monthly financial report, and department reports.

Visitors’ Comments:

Old Business:
A. SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING: Ordinance 25-540- An Ordinance of the Town of Mount
Carmel, Tennessee, Adopting the Annual Budget for the Fiscal Year Beginning July 1, 2025, and Ending
June 30, 2026

New Business:

A. PROCLAMATION: National Police Week and Peace Officer's Memorial Day

B. PROCLAMATION: Recognizing Mount Carmel Elementary School as a Tennessee Reward School

C. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: To enter into a contract with TDOT for reimbursement of routine
maintenance of State Routes

D. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: To enter into an administration agreement with First Tennessee
Development District regarding the LPRF grant at Mount Carme! Park

E. FIRST READING: Ordinance 25-541: Retail Package Store Licensing

Board Comments: Mayor, Vice-Mayor, Aldermen, Staff Comments: City Manager, Asst. City Manager,
City Attorney

Adjourn



MOUNT CARMEL

H ptace 7o putdewr 10al
s Ve

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL

BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMEN MEETING MINUTES

A regularly scheduled meeting of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee Board of Mayor and Aldermen
was held at Town of Mount Carmel City Hall, 100 East Main Street, on April 24, 2025, at 5:30p.m.

CALL TO ORDER
5:30 pm by Mayor John Gibson

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Led by Vice-Mayor Bare and Alderman Shugart

ROLL CALL:

BMA Present

Absent

City Administration Present

Alderman Darby Patrick

Jim Stables, City Manager

Alderman Philip Binstock

Allen Coup, City Attorney

Alderman James Cross

Tyler Williams, Asst. City Manager/CFO/Recorder

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

ANANANANANANAN

Mayor John Gibson

WELCOME FROM THE MAYOR
Mayor Gibson welcomed everyone

APPROVAL and/or correction of the March 27, 2025, Board of Mayor and Aldermen meeting

minutes, departmental and financial reports.
Motion: Alderman Shugart

Second: Alderman Binstock

Approved: All present voting in favor

VISITOR COMMENTS
NONE




OLD BUSINESS
NONE

NEW BUSINESS
A. PROCLAMATION: Honoring the Life and Legacy of Quentin R. Dykes

B. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Surplus of Fire Dept. SCBA Compressor and Fill Station

The Fire Department requests consideration and approval to donate to the Church Hill Rescue
Squad the following surplus items: 7.5 HP 5000psi American Airworks Compressor, 3 bottle
5000psi cascade system, 2 hottle American Airworks fill-station. These items have met their useful
and expected life cycle and are no longer functionally available or needed for effective use in the
Town and/or the Fire Department.

Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock
Approved: All present voting in favor

C. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-651: Establish the Mount Carmel Business
and Economic Development Committee

Discussion and Consideration of Resolution 25-651, which establishes a Business and Economic
Development Committee for the Town of Mount Carmel.

Motion: Vice-Mayor Bare
Second: Alderman Patrick
Approved: All present voting in favor

D. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Resolution 25-652: Wastewater Treatment Plant Operation
and Maintenance Agreement- Inframark

This resolution will authorize the mayor to sign a multi-year agreement establishing a public private
partnership for safe and efficient operation of the Town's Wastewater Treatment Plant and
facilities. This action brings the Town into further compliance with our State of Tennessee NPDES
permit for operating the wastewater treatment plant and facilities with the proper number of well-
qualified, licensed, and experienced staff.

Motion; Alderman Binstock
Second: Alderman Patrick

AYES NAYS OTHER
Alderman Darby Patrick v
Alderman Philip Binstock v
Alderman James Cross v




Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

ANIR NI NN

Mayor John Gibson

E. DISCUSSION AND CONSIDERATION: Ordinance 25-540- An Ordinance of the Town of Mount
Carmel, Tennessee, Adopting the Annual Budget for the Fiscal Year Beginning July 1, 2025, and

Ending June 30, 2026

Motion: Alderman Shugart
Second: Alderman Binstock

AYES NAYS

OTHER

Alderman Darby Patrick

Alderman Philip Binstock

Alderman James Cross

Alderman Mindy Shugart

Alderman Jim Gilliam

Vice-Mayor Jim Bare

AN I NI NN

Mayor John Gibson

ADJOURN
Motion: Alderman Shugart at 6:08 P.M.
Second: Alderman Binstock
Approved: All present voting in favor

Approve:

John Gibson, Mayor

Attest:

Tyler Williams, City Recorder




MOUNT CARMEL

%/uﬂ'(l e ,mf/:.un et

FINANCIAL REPORT
TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TN
Month ending 04/30/2025

GENERAL FUND: BALANCE:
Checking Account (First Horizon) $1,664,025.51
LGIP Investment Account $5,115,499.08
Capital Outlay Savings (First Horizon) $1,396,254.34
TOTAL: $8,175,778.93

DRUG FUND: BALANCE:
Drug Fund Checking (First Horizon) $14,576.16
Special Drug Fund (First Horizon) $1,038.95
TOTAL: $15,615.11

SEWER FUND: BALANCE:
Checking Account (First Horizon) $999,823.84
Savings/Bond Reserve 2014 (First Horizon) $105,295.85
Savings/Sewer Savings 2014 (First Horizon) $531,397.55
TOTAL: $1,636,517.24
GRAND TOTAL CASH ON HAND: $9,827,911.28

Current Savings Rate: 3.20%
Current LGIP Rate: 4.28%



%59"6b5- (Z8T1H'LET) (28'1TH'29T) (5€'899'¥0) 00°000°52 sbuuseg 3sasequl 00T9€
%00°00T 000081 00°0 000 00'005'T suopngrauo) Bnig 00zsE
%EQ'6L 09°085'T (ov'6Tb) 00°0 000002 $3S0D) puy Saul4 HnoD Auno) 0915¢
%00'00T 00°000'1 00°0 000 00°000°T saul4 pajepy Brug OvISE
%L6'S9 SL'T6b'9T (s2'205'8) 00°0 00°000'S¢C JusWad104ug paads 0Joyd Xapay (4843
%09°19 16'66£'0€ (co'002'6T) (5+°869°€) 00°000°05 S1S0D puy Sauld Unod Ao 0T1SE
%0008 00°0b (oo'om) 00°0 00'0S S32IAIRS 04 Sab.eY) - [0QU0D [RUHUY 01SbE
%00°00T 00008 00°0 000 00°'008 394 uoneyd 1d1L-3 X432
%00°00T 00°000°€€ 00°0 000 00°000°€E Ppenuo) AemybiH 23815 0TEVE
%86'682- (00's66'25) (00's66°24) 00°0 00°000'0Z anuaAsy juswieds( alld 0z/€€
%000 000 (00°000°5) 00'0 00°000's suoneuoq Ateigri 6TLEE
196png oN {00°000'sT) (00°000'ST) 000 00°0 Auno) woy e TT€€
%00'7¢ LT09L'T (e£'6€2'9) 000 00°000'8 spuny ealy 1edu eiads T6S€€
%6891 62°CET'0T (1£'£98'6t) (£5'2e9'9T) 00°000°09 SaXeL JO Nal UL sjuawAeg BAL T66E€E
396png oN (8T'¥¥6'T) (81'¥16'T) (1¥°94T1) 000 uopezjuispoly uoepodsuel| 855€e
%T9°0€ 1T'92€1T (68'££9'S7) (56'656'2) 00'000'£€ Xel auloseD 3jels 45133
%EH'TE ¥S 16816 (95'80180T) (¥S'e52'CT) 00°000°097 3NURASY PIY 132,15 39BIS 166€¢€
%Cb'SL 12°28¢'T (62°21%) (6£°900'1) 00°00£'1 Xe| 199 9)els 0£S€E
%101 S8'2765'102 (ST'20b'8VY) (12°2€0'1S) 00°000°059 Xe| ss|es aje1s 0TSEE
Y%EE'LLT- (09'9b5°s) (09'9b5'2) 000 00°000'2 T2-02Ad ALI9GYSIA IH OSHD 6ThEE
%00°00T 00000002 000 00'0 00°000'002 INVYD J¥dT 3LVLS 1 X4233
%,9'91 00°008 (00°000'%) 000 007008t Aed Juswa|ddns 3315 0THEE
%606 0S'2£8'T (0s°282'8T) (sz'8£8'T) 00°099'07 Penuo) [eIsod T6TEE
%68°16 00'525'02C (00'sZb'6T) (00°S/t78T) 00°000°0tC sjueln 33e3s 061£€
%ES'SC- (ov'284'1) (0b'£8£'8) (0b'666) 0070002 sHuLiad Bulp|ing 0T92¢
%Pb.'19 §9'9TT ey (5£'€8£'97) 000 00'000°0Z Xe| asiyoueld AL 3[qed 40343
%60'0b 66'9b0'22 (10°£56'2€) (05°9£9'€) 00°000'sS Xe| 1239 9[esa|oym 0TL1€
%ES'9T T¥'229's0¢ (65°2££'695) (€5'€1£08) 00°000'SZL Xe] ss|es [ea07] 019T€
%LT'Ly 00'TS9'T (00'68'T) {00°28) 00°00S ‘€ Xe| doid uQ 30D HNOD puy s3] 00€TE
%18'11- (bo'szL'y) (b0'S2L'Pb) (88'060') 00°000'0t (s1e3) Joud) sexel Apadold 0021€
%95'C- (90°'15£'8¢€) (90°15£'185'T) (00'2£9'¢T) 00'000°€TS'T (3us1n)) soxel Apdold 001TE
pazijeayun % pezijeasun pazijeay alA pozijeay AlW pajewnsy [ejol

%EEE] aaneiedwo) Ajyjuopy pun4 felausn L pung
¥ Jo T abed Szoz judy

Wd 20:v S20T/ET/S :swi/ereq A1) - sanudAaY JO JuswAlelS :Aq pajeasd
SswielIp JSJAL 19sn |owie) Junogy Jo umol

SSNUSASY JO JUBWIeIS DO :owep ajejdwa)



%EL6T ¥6°955'S6Z (90°es£'9gT’E) (sv'vbe’L02) 00"0TE‘ZEO0'Y OTT :pund o4 |ejoL
196png oN (00°000°2) (00°000%7) 000 000 IIEM [BLOWR|Y SUBIDISA Suoleuoq G669¢
%06'ZT 127491 (6TTeT’'n) (tzevl) 00'00£'T SNUASY SUOREDIUNWIWICIRR| 1669¢
%90°EE 61°C19'9 (18'28¢'¢1) (T'sb1'T) 00°000'0¢ S3NUDASY SNOBUE||R0S!iA 0669¢
pazijeayun % pazijeaiun pazijeay dlA pazijeay Al pejewnsy [e101

%EE"E8 aapetedwo) Ajyuop pun4 |essusn OTT :pung
¥ o 7 9bed szoz |1dy

Wd 20t ST0Z/€T/S :wg/ereq AD - sanuBAaY JO Judwlels 291 :Aq pajeas)
SWel[|IM DAL [oune) JUNoj JO UMOL SINUSADY JO JUaWale]s Do :awep 3jejdway



9%00°00T (00"zbs'y) (00 zbs'y) 00'0 000 LTT :pungJog|ejol
396png oN (00" zbs'y) (00'zps'y) 00'0 00'0 suonnqgliuo) Bniq 0025€
pazijeajyun % pazjjeaiun pazijeay dlA pazijesy Al pajewnsy [ejo]

%EE'ES aanetedwo) Ajauop pung Bniq 2T pund
¥ 40 ¢ sbeqd S20T Indy

Wd 20 Seoz/sT/s :owiy/a3eq A1) - senuaaay jo Juswajels 291 :Aq pajeas)
SWel||IM J9JAL 1asn JowIe) JUnoy JO UMO]L

SONUIADY JO JUSWIeIS DO :oweN ajejdwal



%bE'1S 91°'80'SHT’T (v8"152'081'T) (02'968°88) 00°0€E'STH'T ZTH ipund.od jejol
%60 £582¢- (60"£58°2¢) (60°£56'2E) 00'0 00001 Jamas - snoaue|[sos!iy 662/
%00°9/- (00'095t) (00 09s0T) (00'095°€) 0070009 s34 de| Jemas 962.€
Y%LE'6L 00°9T8'61T'T (00'+16'862) 000 00°0€4'8kt'T vduv S62LE
%80T 05'22h (05'2£5'D) (05°£€S) 00°000°€ ss94 BuiuNoXY P62LE
%bZ'9T T£°€92'95T (62'9€2'808) (b 28T'18) 00°000'596 sabiey) VIAISG JOMIS 0TzL€
%trb 086 (96°015'v2) (96'010'22) (9b'915'¢) 00700§°C sbujule] 1sa1u1 0019¢
pazijeayun % pazijealun pazijeay alA pazijeay LW pajewns3 [ejol

%EE'E aanesedwo) Ajyauop puny 1smas TIP :pund
¥ 40  abed Szoz Iudv

Wd 20'¥ S20T/€T/S 2wl /aleq A1) - sanuaAay Jo Juawalels 291 :Aq pajeasd
SWeHIM JoJAL oS [owie) JUnojy Jo UMOoL SONUIADY JO JUBWIBIe]S DO :dwen ejdwa]



00°0 0070 000 QIWdIY
00°'0 %000 (00°009'1) 00°0 (00°009°T) (00'009'T) 9zL
00°0 000 00'0 804BWWOD JO IqUey) 0 suBmen
000 %00°00T 000 00°005"2 (00'005'0) (00°005'2) ves
000 000 00°0 uoljeuoq Suszj1D JoIuas
0070 %00°00T 000 00°000°€€ (00"000°€€) (00°000°€€) geL
00°0 000 000 Aousby =0inosay uewNH N1 3siid
000 %0000 0070 00°005C (00°005'2) (00'005'0) (444
00°0 000 000 Piasid JuswdoAsg UL 3sa1d
000 %8196 (00°59) 00'S€9'T (00'00£'T) (00"00£'T) 02L
00°0 000 000 sab.ey) 0135 yueg
S6'69%'T %ED THPS 16°0T%'9 16'0€S9 (oo'ozm) (0o'0zm) 169
00'0 00°0 000 welbold Aajes
000 %000 (00°005'0) 000 (00°005'2) (00°005'7) £6S
00°0 000 000 s150)) |esiesddeay
00°0 %6658 (¢9'092'1) 8E'6EL'L (00°000°6) (00°000'6) 185
00°0 000 000 SoueRINSU]
§/'582°91 %8518 (0s220'€0) 05'2£6'101 (00'000'52T) (00°000°s21) 01§
00'0 000 000 Ssa0IARS Bupisaulbug
0070 %00°0 (00°000'P) 000 (00°000%) (00"000'%) ¥5¢
00'0 000 00°0 SSDIAIDS UOHEIIUNWIWOD J3YI0 puy uoydajaL
11161 %b9'6b (€£015'T) LT68Y'T (00°000°€) (00°000'€) SbT
00'0 000 000 SN
L6661 %2L'S9 (06'691'9) 0T°0€8'TT (00'000°8T) (00'000°81) 1) 24
00°0 00°0 000 uonedy dliqnd
2106 %TH'€6 (82'9v9'1) TLESE'ET (00°000'52) (00°00052) 9¢eT
00°0 000 000 sang
00°0 %0828 (00°889) 00°ZIE’E (00°000") (00°000'%) S€C
JUBSWULIBAOD) [RIDdUDD Q00TH
aoueIquindug pasn % aqejieAy spung saduelqunougy 1°bpng |ejol sjuswIpuUsaWy Palqo Iajus) Palqo
/1lemdy /seinyipuadxy /1°6png |ewibLQ qns 150D
aiw dlA
%EE'E :9AReIRdwo) AjUIuoiy oTT :pung
8T 40 T 3bed szoz Idy
Wd £0:¥ §202/€1/S Lpwil/ajeq saouelqunoug pue sainjipuadxgy jo Juawdjels 91 :Aq pajeals)
SWel||Ip J9JAL Iasn faune) JUNoOW JO UMoL ainyipuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :swep ajejdwa)



000 00'0 00°0 abpnc A
00°00b %EEES {00°008) 00'000v (00°008'p) (00°008'%) 052
00°0 000 00°0 BuIsHIBApY
08'16 %ET'TS (0z'15%'T) 08'8b5'T (00'000°€) (00°000°€) 157
000 000 000 sang
09°€85 %SGE 98T 8b"€95 8h'€99'T (00"000'T) (00000'T) SeT
000 000 00'0 SIVIAIDS GIM
000 %000 (00'000'T) 000 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) LT2
000 000 000 SDIAIBS JoUIBIU]
[+'06 %TE09 (verasv) 9/L'€TL (00'002'T) (00'002'T) 9Tz
00°0 000 000 JoAel puy UeWIBPIY JO S394
89'TH8 %b0°9L (16°€5€'€) 60°9¥9°0T (00°000"%T) (00°000°¥T) 191
000 000 000 Buurel| puy uonesnp3 saAojdwy
000 %00°STT 00°0ST 00°0ST'T (00°000'T) (00'000°T) 8pT
00°0 000 000 2oueInsuT JuswAojdwaupn
PTTIS %9T1°CEC 18°099 18'091'T (00"005) (00°00%) Jags
00°0 000 00°0 ue|d juaua.i3ay sskojdw
98'85t'1 %0b"8€ (0z'960°6T) 08°€06'TT (00"000'1€) (00'000°1€) el
00°0 00°0 000 ouelnsut saAojdwg
L6°£95'S %6011 €Ly [4 % ¥7A (00°000'SH) (00'000'St) [44!
00°0 000 000 (adeys ss2hojdw3) IseQ
£9'209'1 %TE6S (H2€1°8) 95'298'T1 (00'000°02) (00°000'02) 142
00°0 000 000 sabem
26'90b'22 %bS'SL (S€'S1'19) 5928’81 (00°000°052) (00°000'052) 121
uojjensjUlWpY |eppueuly  00STH
000 00°0 0070 uswdinbg
9€'9b8'6T %S 6 (v9'esT'921) 9€'9b8'cCT (00'000'052) (00°000°052) 0b6
00°0 000 00°0 jUeIS BWOH
00°S/4'8T 126png oN 00°6/b'81 00°'S/b'8T 000 000 06
JVueIqUNdIUZ pPasn % ?|qejieAy spunyg sIduRIqUNDOU] yebpng |eiol sjusawpusawy palqo 1PuUd) 9[qo
/lenpy [ssimyipuadx3 /3ebpng jeuiblo qns 350D
din alA
%EE'E8 raaesedwo) Ajyjuol OFT :pung
gT Jo 7 9bed §20z Iudy
Wd £0*b S20e/ET/s awil /aleq sadueIquINdU3 pue sainjipuadxy jJo Juswjels 91 :Aq paeasd
SWel||IMm JBJAL HELT Jowie) Junopy Jo umoy alnjpuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :awep azejdwa ]



0070 000 00°0 juswdinb3pioddns/endwo) maN
000 %/8'EC- (20'858'T) (zo8s¢€) (00'005'T) (007005'T) Lb6
00°0 000 00°0 Juswdinbg
00°0 %TTLE- (1£¥8v'S) (T1£¥8Y'T) (00°000'%) (00'000%) 0v6
000 000 000 Ja1doD sses bupessdQ
8/ %0E v (8b'5¢8) T5'v99 (00°005'T) (00°005'T) S79
00°0 00°0 00°0 snoaueyasIiy
pb'sL %ST'HIE £8'695'8 £8'695°CT (00°000'%) (00°000%) 6Lv
00°0 000 00'0 sal|ddns samog Asuid
00'0 %90°SS (99'886) PETTTT (00'002'2) (00'002'0) [433
00°0 000 00°0 abejsod puy saljddns 340
6v'1S %60°621 8bLTE'e 8v'/ZE'0T (00°000°8) (00°000°8) 01E
000 00°0 0070 $994 UOISSILIWO)D)
$Sp0T %TL€CT 1Tvly 1TvLb'T (00'000'2) (00°000'2) 867
00°0 000 000 [onelL
000 %960 (06'S¥'T) 0T'$20'T (00'005'0) (00°005'D) 082
00°0 000 000 sBuipjing ddueuRjulely pUY Jledoy
000 %8LL (9£°601'9%) ¥9°068'€ (00°000°05) (00°000°05) 997
000 00°0 000 saoinlas Buluoz puy Buluued
00°0 %00"€0T 00°0Sb 00°0Sb'ST (00°000'sT) (00'000'sT) ST
000 000 000 uoddng alemyos/alempley Js3ndwo)
SE'690'T %ET'Ob (0s292'c€) 05'2€9'CT (00°00+'95) (00°00%'95) 114
00'0 000 000 s834 Bunipny puy Bununody
S6'6 %EL'L6 (08'620'T) 02°0£6'8€E (00°000°0b) (00°000°0%) €52
00'0 000 000 seoIARS [eba
000 %L0°SL (0s'08v'2) 0S'615°2¢ (00 000°0€) (00'000°0%) [AT4
00°0 000 000 SBDINIBS (€213
00°0 %00°52 (00°'0ST) 0005 (00°002) (00°002) 152
2oueIqUINDUZ Pasn % a|qejieAy spung sasuelqunoug 396png |ejoL sjuswpuauy Pelqo Jaqua) P3(qo
/lemoy /sainypuadx3 /196png |euibLIQ qns 150D
alnW aLA

%EE'E ‘2AResedwo) Ajyiuop OTT : pund
8T Jo € abed S0z |1dy
Wd £0:+ S20z/<T/s 2wl /ajeq seoueIqINDUZ pue saim3ipuadx3 Jo Juswalels #0Y :Aq pajeas)

Sl

M JOIAL

119sN

[eWwle) JUNO JO UMO]L

ainypuadxg Jo Juawlels Do :sweN Aejdwal



000 000 000 Hoddng alemyos/aiemp.ey Jsandwo)
04°€19'G %S.'88 (86'289'1) zoeIe’er (00°000'sT) (00°000°ST) 114
00'0 00°0 00°0 SIOIAIRS [IIP3IN
000 %006/ (00°501) 00°S6E (00'00%) (00°00%) 162
00°0 000 000 SSDIAIRS UOREDIUNWIWOD JAYI0 puy suoydajal
12°62S %0€"0L (z6'18L'T) 80°81C't (00"000'9) (00"000°9) 14
00°0 000 000 sang
000 396png oN 05°£6T 05°/6T 000 00°0 S€T
00'0 000 000 woo3
00°0 %Z5'v6 (6£'94) sTeee’t (00°00v'T) (00'00+'T) 612
000 000 000 S3DIAIRS JBUISIU]
86'6/ %86°€9 (91°09€) ¥8'6€9 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) 91
00°0 000 00°0 Bulugel) puy uonednp3 a3ko|dw
00°09¢ %L9"8C¢ 00°062°0T 00°064'pT (00°00S'%) (00'00s'%) 8b1
00'0 000 00'0 2ouelnsuy JuswAoljdwaupn
e %9E L (1e'821) 6L'TLE (00°00S) (00'00%) yaas
00'0 00°0 00'0 uoesuadulo) S.UsUIIOoM
00°0 196png oN (00'9¢v'0) (00°9€¥'2) 00'0 000 91
00°0 00'0 00’0 Ued JusWaIn=y 34ojdw3
Lb'P60'T %I8LE (99'618'6¢) PE0ST'8T (00°000'8t) (00°000'8%) b1
00'0 00°0 000 3ouelInsu] a9Aojdw3g
L7588 %8E"Eh (e8'6bL'th) L1°0S2'2€ (00"005'54) (00'005°s2) fa!
00°0 000 00°0 (21eys spA0jdw3) IseQ
£9°280'C %6005 (+9'1£6'vT) 9€'820'ST (00"000°0€) (00°000°0€) b1
00°0 000 000 sabem SWIHAAQ
79'249'T %ES"E8 (LTv6T'E) €/°504'9T (00°000°02) (00°000°02) wa
000 000 000 sebem
LE'68Y'LT %059 (zb'Lss'ven) 85'Thb'SET {00°000°09€) (00°000°09¢) 121
juawpedaq adijod  00TZY
aouesqunouy pasn % ajgejieAy spung s9duelqunoul 39bpng [ejo) sjuaWpuswy Pefqo 1uld) Palqo
/lenmpy [seanypuadxa /126png [euwibLIO qns 150D
alwW ala
%EE'E8 ‘aAReledwo) AJyiuoi OTT : pund
8T Jo t abed S707 ludy
Wd Z0'b S20zZ/ET/S iawll/a3eq seduelquinoug pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juswialels 91 :Aq pajeas)
SWe||IM JBJAL 1asn [owiie) Junop Jo umo] ainypuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :swepN ajejdwa ]l



000 000 000 12-02 Ad INVYD ALTTIFISIA TH OSHL
000 %E60ST 09'95°C 09'9v5'L (00'000's) (00°000°s) S0L
00°0 000 00°0 J91do) asea bunesado
L9'v8 %8E'0€ (s£'e6e'T) §9'£09 (00"000'0) (007000'2) S29
00°0 00°0 00°0 sebueyd Ajajes 0 1dea
L8°0L2 %09'6T (60°922'S) 16'€LT'T (00°005'9) (00°005'9) 095
000 00°0 00°0 snoauey[esiy
000 %28'P8 (er120) 8T LT (00°005°1) (00°005'T) 6Lb
00'0 000 00°0 asuadxg oipey
000 %10°'S (95'v22't) 4 T44 (00°005'%) (00°005't) 9¢€
00°0 00°0 00°0 asuadx3 fend
08'904'1 %16°0S (b6'218'6) 90°Z81'0T (00"000'02) (00°000'02) €€
000 000 00'0 asuadxg bunesado SpIYaA
8/'¥TE'T %06'ch (9g'v20'vT) ¥9'6/6°01 (00°000°52) (00000's2) o€€
00°'0 000 000 S3rddNs 13M011-3
000 %000 (00°008) 000 (00°008) (00°008) 62€
00°0 000 000 swioyun puy buipopd
000 %0¥'9TT 96°559 96°559% (00°000'%) (00'000t) 9z¢
00°0 000 00'0 SIS9A JO0.d 33ling
000 %SL°€9 (00°s24) 00'S£2'T (00°000'2) (00"000'2) 743
000 000 00'0 sonddng bupessdo
000 %0b"60T L0°0Lb L0°0Lb'S {00°000°S) (00°000'S) oze
00°0 00°0 00'0 abejsod puy saiddns o140
§SZL1 %60°6TT {JArdAS vL'eLS'E (00'000°€) (00°000°€) 01€
00°0 000 000 [eAelL
75'081°C %65'SST £9'68¢'T £9'688'¢ (00'005°2) (00°005'2) 08¢
000 00°0 00°0 sbuipjing soueusUIRl puy Jleday
0070 %96°76 (26'550'T) 80 bP6'ET (00°000'ST) (00"000'ST) 992
00°0 000 00°0 saoiAIRs Buimol /1oRum
00°0ST 196png oN 00°0ST 00°0ST 000 000 65¢C
aduelquinouy pasn % ajqejieAy spung saduesquniug j9b6png jejol sjudawpuawWy P3(q0 Jajua) palqq
/1enoy [seimyupuadxa /3e6png |eutblO qns 150D
aiw aiA

%EE"E8 raAneledwo) Ajyjuoly 0TT :puny
87 Jo G abed
IWd £0:t §202/ET/S rowil /aleq seoueIquINoug pue saJnypuadx3 Jo Juswalels M :Aq pazeal)
Sweljjipm JRAL HEH ) [oure) jJunoy Jo umol alnypuadxd jo Juswalels D] :eweN ajejdwaL



000

00°0 00°'0 [prelL
00°0 %67°ST (01'£v8) 06'¢ST (00°000'T) (00°000'T) 087
000 00°0 000 sBuip|ing dueusuIR puy Jleday
vT0T's %bS 10T G/'8%9 S/'8b9'Th (00°000"2t) (00°000°2k) 992
000 00°0 0070 yoddng alemyos/alempley Jaindulo)
00°0 %8Y'TT (££°559'0) LTHPE (00"000°€) (00'000°€) 174
00°0 00°0 00°0 SSDINIBS 22131
00°0 %00°0T (00"0st) 00°08 (00°008) (00"00%) 16¢
00°0 00°0 000 SSDIAISS UOREDIUNWIWOYD) JSUYI0 pUy UoydalaL
v0'£9 %0E’'69 (09'sv2) 0b"bSS (00°008) (00°008) (74
000 000 00°0 saBn
$0'€T8 %05 8% (9e'569'9) +9'b0€'9 (00 000°€T) (00°000'€T) (1774
0070 000 000 apeled/suoney lgnd
00'0 %SP P11 [Ag X2 §eer'e (00'000°€) (00'000°€) 8¢
00°0 00°0 00°0 seng
00°SP %0067 (00°55¢) 00°SbT (00°00%) (00"00%) S€T
000 00'0 000 Buiuiel| puy uoneonp3 sskojdwy
§5°'86% %69'Ly (¥8'8€1'e) 91°198'C {00°000'9) (00°000'9) 8t1
00°0 000 00°0 3ouelnsut JuswAojdwaun
6E'ET %06'9€ (057s1¢) 0S'v8T (007009) (00'00%) LbT
00°0 000 000 (21eys s ahojdw3) iseQ
6/'02b %656 (s8'825'€) ST'ILb'E (00"0002) (00°000°2) 51
000 00°0 00°0 sabem
85'005'S %ET'T9 (££'129's€) [T'8T6'98 (00'000'26) (00°000°26) K41
juawpedaqg a4 00ZZP
000 00'0 000 juawdinby
000 %00°0 (00°000'2) 000 (00"000'2) (00°000'2) 0b6
punj bnig 6TTTY
00'0 00'0 000 juawdinby
TT'1S8°C %€E1°00T ¥0'8L $0°820'09 (00'000°09) (00'000°09) 0b6
soueiquinoug pasn % ajqejieAy spunyg sadueiqUINOUg yebpng |ejol sjusawpuaWyY Palqo Jajua) welqo
/1lemody /seimyipuadx3 [1°6png |euibLIQ qns 150D
din alA
%EEER ‘dAReIedwo) AYIUOW OTT : pung
8T 4o 9 abed szoz judvy
Wd £0:t STOT/ET/S 1wy /e3eq saduelquinouz pue sainjipuadx3 Jo juawaiels M :Aq pajeat)
SweljIip J9JAL 19sN [suwie) JUNopy Jo uMmoL alnjpuadxz Jo Juswalels Do :BwepN ajejdwa



000 000 00°0 @ouelnsuy JuswAoidwaun
000 %b9'S (9e'v6) ¥9'S (00-001) (00"001) yigs
0070 00'0 00°0 (31eYS s, JaAoldw3) 1RO
000 %T6'bE (9z'926) PL€TS (00°005°T) (00°005'T) 1848
00°0 000 000 sabem
00°0 %8C'GS (T+'209'2) 65°L6€'6 (00°000°21) (00°0002T) 121
judwpedaq jonnuo) jewiuy  00HZY
000 000 000 awdinb3
61°8L6'S %69'%9 (01°v02'1S) 06'S6£€6 (00"000'sbT) (00"000°s¥T) 0b6
00°0 000 000 SNo3Ue[3SIW
000 %06'99 (00'1£¢) 00'699 (00'000'T) (00°000°1) 6/
00°0 000 00°0 Juswdinb3 juswpedsq a14
0070 %SS5'T6 (ee'128'T) £9'8/b'9T (00°000°8T) (00"000'81) wbe
00°0 000 00°0 asuadxg olpey
000 %0148 (00's62) 00°S0Z'% (00°000'S) (00°000S) 9ce
000 0070 0070 asuadxg [an4
PE'LSL %82°€9 (9¢'€02'D) $9°96£'€ (00°000'9) (00°0009) 1€€
000 00°0 000 asusdxg Bunesado a1y
S 0bL'y %Sb 09 (Z8'¥98'TT) 81°SET'8T (00'000°0¢) (00'000°0€) 0ge
000 000 000 suoyun puy Buiyiop
78'608 %LGE6 (b8zel) 91°£08'C (00000°€) (00°000°€) 9z¢
00°0 000 000 saljddns bunesado
00'0 %05'8€£CE ¥6'692'29 ¥6'69/'%9 (000000 (00°000'2) (1743
000 00'0 00'0 abeysod puy sa)iddns 2340
00'0 %SS5'T9 (9b'v8¢) $5'ST9 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) 01€
000 000 000 SIDIAISS [enPeRiu0)
000 %0529 (00°059) 00°0S€'T (00°000'7) (00'000'2) 062
000 00°0 000 bupsal eyso
00°0 %EE 62T 9T'9be'? 91'9b£'0T (00°000'8) (007000°8) 182
Iduelqunduz pasn % dlqejieAy spungd saduelquniul j96png [ejol Ssjuawpuswy 19{q0 93Ul paiqo
/lemdy /saimyipuadx3 /196png jeuibLo qns 150D
alwW dlA
Y%EE'ER :aAneledwo) AjYauoly oIT :pund
8T Jo ¢ abed $20T I1dy
Wd Z0'+ S202Z/<T/S :auny /ajeq saduelqundug pue saimipuadxgy Jo Juswajels M :Aq pajeasd
SWel[iim J9IAL 9sn [wie) Junop Jo UMoL ainyipuadx3 Jo uswalels Do awep ajejdwal



000 000 000 (a4eYs sJahojdw3) 1se0
00°0 196png oN (00°z€T) (007zeT) 000 000 Wi
00'0 00°0 00°0 sabem
000 1e6png oN (00¥+T) (00vbT) 00°0 00°0 121
juwsbeuely Jajemuliols /uoildadsu] Suipjing  ozZveh
00°0 00°0 000 juswdinby
000 %000 (00°005't) 000 (00°005"%) (00°005'%) 0v6
00'0 000 00°0 Snoaue|[2osii
00°0 196png oN 89°6 89'6 00°0 00°0 6/
000 000 000 asuadx3 jond
00°0 %TEPE (08'20£'T) 0Z'768 (00°009'2) (00°009'2) €€
000 000 000 asuadxg bunesado apIyap
00'0 %9€'12Z1 00°SET 00'SEE’T (00'001°T) (00°001'T) 0Ee
00°0 00°0 00°0 suLopun puy BUILROD
00°0 %000 (00°00T) 000 (00-00T) (00°00T) 9z¢
00°0 00°0 00°0 saddns 6unesado
00'0 %00°0 (00'00T) 000 (00-00T) (00°00T) 1143
000 000 000 SSDIAISS [BIIPBIY
00°0 %00°0 (00°00T) 000 (00°00T) (00°00T) 15¢C
00°0 00'0 00°0 SSDIAIBS UONEJIUNWII) JSYI0 puy Buoydafal
86'0t %E9'bS (eT'eLd) LLLTE (00°009) (00°009) 174
00°0 00°0 00°0 SN
000 %000 (00001) 000 (00'00T) (0o001) 0bz
000 000 000 sang
000 %000 (00001) 0070 (co'001) (0o0"001) S€2
00°0 000 00°0 s394
00°05¢ %ET"E9 (00°056'0) 00°050°S (00°000°8) (00°000'8) 0L1
00°0 00°0 00°0 Bujuiel| puy uonednp3 saoldws
00°0 %000 (00'00T) 0070 (oo'00T) (0o'o01) 8b1
duesquindul pasn % ’lqejieAy spung saouelqunoug jobpng JejolL sjuswipuswy P3[q0 Ru) plqo
/1empy [seimypuadx3 /196png [eulblQ qns 150D
alnW aiA
%EE'ER raAneledwo) Ayjuol oTT :pung
8T Jo g abeq ST0Z Idy
Wd 20+ S20T/ET/s :awiy /areq seduelquindug pue sainjipuadx3 Jo Juswalels 291 :Aq pajeas)
Swel||Ipm JJAL HELT)] jowse) Junopy Jo umoj anypuadxd Jo Juswalels D91 :aweN ajejdws ]



00°0 000 00°0 S0IAIDS JRUIBIU]
(4R VA" %6+°89 (£z°0£9) €£'69€'T (00°000'20) (00°000°2) 912
000 00°0 00'0 Buiurel} puy uopeanpl sskojdwg
000 %00°0 (00°00S'T) 00°0 (00°00S'T) (00°005'T) 8b1
000 00°0 000 aoueInsuT JusuiAojdwiaun
00°0 %00k (66'682) 107012 (00°00%) (00°00%) Jag
00°0 000 00°0 uonesuadwo?) S,uauom
00°0 196png oN (00'€€b'D) (00'ceb'D) 000 000 91
00'0 000 000 ue|d JuswauiRy sedojdw3
20°S8T'T %95'Th (10'508'/1) 66'P6T'CT (00'000°T€) (00°000'7€) €vT
00°0 00°0 000 aoueInsuT aAojdwig
SP1ET'E %5928 (v6'882°2) 90°TTL'bE (00°000°2k) (00°000°2#) Wl
00'0 00°0 00°0 (a1eys stakoldwi) 1seO
£p'8TT'T %Zh 6 (c2'v96'6) 11'5eL'6 (00"00£'6T) (00°00£'6T) 1§28
00°0 00°0 00°0 sobep sWIHAAQ
00°0 %£8°001 85'th 86°€H0'S (00°000°5) (00°000's) 44!
000 000 000 sabem
T1°68179T %9189 (bb'016'64) 95°680'T/T (00°000'152) (00'000'152) 121
syeau3s puy shemybiH  00TEY
000 000 000 snosue||30siiA
00'0 %09'L (0z'808) 08'TH (00"05S) (00°08S) 6Lb
00°0 0070 00°0 saljddns Bunesado
00°0 %09°C (10°86'T) 66'TS (00°000'20) (00°000'0) 1143
00°0 00°0 00°0 uomjows(
000 %00°0 (00°000'52) 00°0 (00°000's?) (00°000°52) 697
00'0 000 000 seng
0070 %00°18T $1'8b9°9Z $1°8b5'65 (00°006'2€) (00°0062€) SET
000 000 000 Buiurel| puy uonesnp3 asiojdwy
00°0 %00'0 (00'009'7) 000 (00'009'7) (00°009'2) 8yl
aouelqunmug posn % a|qejieAy spung s¥dueIqUINOU] 3eb6png [ejol sjuswpuswy pelqo Jajua) P9[q0
/leny /seamypuadx3 /3e6png jeuiblQ qns 350D
aLmw aia
%EE'ES :aAneledwo) Ajyuo OTT :pund
8T JO 6 9bed Szoz |udy
Wd £0'F SZ0T/ET/S iawn]/e3eq sasueiqunoul pue saimipuadxy Jo Juswelels BSl) :Aq pageasd
SWe||iIm J9JAL HE jowe) JUNOY JO UMO)L nyipuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do owep Rejdwal



00°0 000 00°0 Bulned
000 %19'9/ (1z241'L0) 61'778'75¢ (00°000°0£€) (00*000°0€€) 1€6
00°0 000 00°0 Jleday abeuleiqg
00'0 %000 (00"000'T) 000 (00'000'T) (00°000'T) 28y
00°0 000 00°0 Snodue|[a0S|iA
000 %E6'Z6 (b2'02) 97'626 (00°000'T) (00°000°T) 6L
00°0 000 00°0 asusdxg |ang
8T°0T€'C %199 (80°952'11) 6'ebT'ee (00°000°s€) (00°000°5€) T€€
000 000 00'0 asuadhg bupessdo 3IYsA
S5°T6€ %L8'ES (z0°zes 1T) 86°L9P'€T (00°000'52) (00°000'52) 0€e
00°0 000 000 suLoyun puy Buigion
000 %19°€9 (Lb2€9°T) £€6'798'C (00°00S't) (00°00S %) 9z¢
00°0 00'0 000 sajddng bupesedo
79'08b %T1°10T £1'68 £1°680°8 (00°000°8) (00°000°8) (1743
00'0 000 000 abeysod puy saljddns oo
0070 %0764 (10°%0T) 66'G6E (00°005) (00°005) 01€
000 000 000 Buisea uawdinbg
00°0 %Z8YT (Lz'186'0) €818 (00°005°€) (00°005°€) ¥6¢
00°0 000 000 ERT
00°0 %000 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000°T) (00'000'T) 08¢
00'0 00°0 000 5192115 puy Speoy SdueUS)Ulel pUY Jledsy
78'65b %L0"SS (81°01L'9) 78'65¢'8 (00°000'ST) (00'000°5T) 897
00°0 000 000 sbuip|ing soueusjuely puy Jleday
0§'821 %20 €CT £9'069 £9'069°€ (00'000°€) (00'000°€) 997
000 000 000 S3DIAIDS [EDIPAA
00°0 %009/ (00'021) 00°08€ (00°00%) (00°00%) 152
00°0 00°0 000 SSDIAIDS UOREIIUNWIWO) SRUIO PUY Buoydajal.
88'GHT %1529 (9£'6¥0'T) 20541 (0070082 (00°008'7) 174
00°0 000 000 CEN el
LS'SLT'T %SSL9 (£z'8sL'0) €LT0L'S (00°005°8) (00°005'8) (1] 74
aduelquniugy Pasn % a|qejieAy spung saduelquindug 106png [ejol sjuUsWpuUdWY Pa(qo 12JU’d) 199[q0
/1lenyy /seinypuadx3 /196png |eulblQ qns 350D
ain dlA

%EL'E raAResedwo) AJUIUON OTT : puny
8T 40 0T 9bed ST0T Iudv
IWd £0'% S20T/ET/S owil /ajeq saoueiquinduz pue saimjipuadxy Jo JuswIjels 91 :Aq pajeasd

SWeI||IM J3[AL

uesn

|[ewie) Junopy Jo umoy

aInjipuadx3 Jo Juswiiels Do :dwep pejdwal



00°0 00°0 00°0 S3DIAIIS [@2IPAIN
00°'St %00°S (00°sS) 00'Sb (00°001) (00'001) 152
00'0 00°0 00'0 2oueInsuT JusWAojdwaun
00°0 %00°2k (00°8s) 002y (00"001) (00'001) b1
000 000 00'0 ue|d JusWaSy 3akojdwg
26°LLT %bLLE (80°186') 76°810°E (00°000°8) (00"000°'8) b1
00'0 000 000 souelnsut aakojdwy
09°6£0'T %Tb €8 (08'ss1°2) 0C'vb8'0T (00°000°€T) {00"000°cT) fag!
00°0 00°0 00'0 (s1eys sahojdw3) 1seq
£T05C %CL1S (9¥'6£6'1) $5°021'C (00°00T'%) (00°00T'p) i
00°0 000 000 sabem BWIHBAQ
00°0 %92°1S (95'812'1) ' 182'T (00°005°D) (00'005'D) 44!
000 000 000 sabem
08'96.'€ %It L (9z'€19'TT) ¥£'98L'6€ (00°00%'1S) (00'00%'15) 121
BuipAoay puy 21sep PIOS  00ZEY
00°0 00°0 000 swdinbg
8b'219 %59'9/1 15°2€8'€ 157288 (00°000's) (00°000'S) 0v6
00°0 000 000 Buined
00°0 %/5'8 (SS'€T1L'SH) Sb'987'p (00000°05) (00°000°05) 1€6
00°0 000 0070 sa|/ddns puy sjelsden
00'0 %95°65 (zr'ter'en) 88'898'/1 (00°000°0€) (00°000°0€) 00t
00°0 00°0 00°0 soueuRUreRlY BT el
000 %0261 (00919'T) 00'v8€ (00'000'2) (00°000'2) £be
000 000 000 sal|ddns puy sped ubls
00°0 %98' Tt (85'159%) wsbe's (00°000°8) (00°000°8) we
000 000 000 Bunybr 19915
£8'85¢ %Z6'9 (zs'09v'th) 8b'6€5'LE (00°000°08) (00°000°08) Vazd
Plv 192135 933  Q6TED
000 000 000 juswdinbg
000 %LS"b6 (c€v6b'2T) £9°S08°/1¢ (00°000°0€2) {00"000°0£2) 0v6
ssuelquindug pasn %% d]qejieAy spung sasueiquundug j3obpng |ej0L (= TEITLITE T P3Aq0 Jajua) Palqo
/1lempy /seanypuadx3 /396png JeuiblQ qns 350D
dlnW dlA
%EE'ES raAnesedwo) AJUIuoly OTT : pung
8T Jo TT obed §207 Indy
Wd 20+ S202/€T/S iowl /ajeq saoueiquindug pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juswelels 91 iAq pajeasd

SWel||IM J9JAL

1asM)

[owie) Junop Jo umoy,

aJnyipuadx3 JO JUSWILIS D9

awep ajejdwa)



000 00°0 000 Bujulel) puy uopednpl s4ojdws
#9'95 %89°SC (veepl) 9/795¢ (00°000'T) (00'000'T) 8pT
00°0 00'0 00'0 9oueINsUT JusWAojdwaun
€Lyl %L6"LL (¥8'0€) 91°601 (o0'0vT) (00'0bT) ag!
000 000 000 (a4eys sJaholdws) 1Iseo
€845 %8C°€S (€6'898'T) LO'TET'T (00°000%) (00'000%) 12!
000 000 000 sebem
LTTEEE %T8'S/ (96'900°1T) $0"€6'PE (00°005'S) (00°005'5t) 14!
Aeaqm  o08tY
00°0 00°0 000 pue
000 %000 (00°000°002) 00'0 (00'000'002) (00°000°002) 016
00°0 00°0 00°0 uoesadO puy JuswdolpAR( Yied
00'0 %or' Tt (LegTr'se) £9'9/8'vC (00"000'09) (00°00009) Y4
00'0 00°0 00°0 aseydInd puen
0079 %200 (00°'8£6'66€) 00'29 (00°000°00%) (00°000°00t) ST
00'0 00°0 000 Snoaue||0s|iy
000 %06°€8 (9z’0b) ¥/"60T (00°052) (00°052) 6Lt
00'0 000 00°0 sallddng bunetado
90°'SbT %0565 (¥5°209) 9b'768 (00'005'T) (00"005'T) 0ze
00°0 000 000 Yed [ELOWSY 1B UBISIBA
00°0 %S¢'81 (zs'218) 8b°Z81 (00°000'T) (00°000'T) 00€
00°0 00°0 000 sa|iN
€9°€91 %ES'HT (ze'vL0'LT) 8£'576'C {00'000°02) (00°000°02) 1} 74
uopesnsy  ObbbY
00°0 000 000 asuadxg bunesado sPIYRA
6ELEED %Ib'b6 (86's82'T) 0'v12'12 (00°000°€2) (00°000°€2) €€
00°0 00'0 00'0 sayiddns bunesado
000 %56’ Ty (sT'062) S£'60¢ (00°00%) (00°00%) 1743
000 000 00°0 S3DIAIRS [BNIDRIUCD
§2'121°0C %0L'S9 (00°'TH0'P8) 00°656'09T (00°000'5%72) (00°000's%2) 062
Jvuelqundug Pasn % a|qejieAy spung saJjuelquindugy jobpng [ej0L sjuswIpudWy P3(qo Jajua) 13[q0
/lenpy /seanmypuadx3 /1e6png |euibl10 qns 350D
din dalA
%€EEE "w>_meMn_EoU >_£uco_>_ OTT : pun4
8T 4o ZT 9beq S20¢Z |udv
Wd 20y §202/€T/S owi) /ajeq saJjuelquindug pue sainjipuadxy Jo Juswalels 91 :Aq pajeasd
SWe|IIM J9JAL 1a9sn [owe) JUNOl Jo UMoL

ainpuadx3 Jo Juswalels Do :aweN ajejdwal



000 000 00°0 SDIAIRS [UOSIRd
00°0 196png oN 00'408'S 00'%08's 00°0 00°0 001
sjuawied jedipulid 8sed71 (00006
0070 000 000 weiboid buipesy JSWWNG
6L'€ET %b8'1C (L'€98'T) €L'9¢Y (00'000'D) (00°000'2) 12
0070 000 00°0 191dop asea bunessdo
LTEY %8LTL (60°'THT) 16°8S€ (00°00%) (00°005) S79
0070 000 000 T2-07 ueun Buiuiel] Aseiqr]
00°0 %0070 (00'000'2) 000 (0070007 (00°000'0) 619
000 00°0 00°0 elek]
bl SPE %89°88 (12°009) 6/'669'p (00°00£°S) (00°00£'S) 06b
00'0 00°0 00°0 snoaue(jRasi
00°0 %05°LC (66'682) 10°01T (00"00%) (coroov) 6Lt
00'0 00°0 000 abeysod puy saljddng 20130
YLLLT %971°60T Sh/ET SPLE9'T (00°005°T) (00'005'T) 01€
000 000 000 oAl
000 %000 (00°005) 000 (00°008) (00°00%) 082
0070 000 000 sbuip|ing @oueuS el pUY Jleday
000 %052 (00'sze'D) 00°5£9 (00"000°€) {00°000°¢) 992
00'0 00'0 00°0 Hoddns alemyos/alempiey Jaindwo)
000 %E9°09 (e0°ccb) £6'999 (00'001'T) (00'001'T) §5T
00°0 000 00°0 S3DIAIDS [BDIPDIA
000 %00°0 (00'001) 000 (00'001) (00'001) 15¢
00°0 000 000 SSOIAIDS LOREDIUNWILIOD SB3YI0 pUY duoydajRL
ELET %SS°TT (e5'v88) LY'STT (0o0'000'T) (00°000T) SHC
000 000 000
¥9'LbE %bE O (z8'286'0) 81°£10'C {00°000°S) {00°000'S) 1} 74
00°0 00°0 000 SOIAIRS JRUISIU]
12691 %ST'SH (09'2v9'T) 0p£SE'T (00°000°€) (00°000°¢) 912
2sueliqunoug Pasn % d|qejieAy spungy s9dueIqUNOU] 3ebpng |ejol SjuaWpuUlIWy peiq0 Jajua) P3[qo
/1lemdy /seamypuadx3 /396png jeuiblQ qns 350D
dain alA

%ECE8 :annesedwo] Ajyiuoly oTT :puny
8T J0 €T 2bed sz0z Idy
Wd Z0:¥ S20T/€T/S 2wy /ajeq S3JURIqUINOUT puk Sainjipuadxy Jo Judwalels J91 1Aq pajealr)
SWel||ipm JBIAL Iosn [2wie) Junop Jo Umol a.nypuadxd Jo Juswalels Do ewepN a3ejdwal



000 00'0 00'0
7L'8b5'€ET %IT'19 (92'$8L'8LL'T) ¥/'S/6'908'C (00'09£'585"p) (00"09£'585") OTT :pung.ofj|ejol
000 00°0 00°0 Buises Juswdinbg
00°0 196png oN 0088t 00'88t 000 000 ¥6¢
aoueIqUINOUZ posn % a|qejieAy spung s9JueIqUINOU] yobpng [ej0} sjuaWIpUAWY P=[qo 193u3) 1a(qo
/1enppy /seamyipuadx3 /1e6png feuiblo qns 150D
ali dlA

%EE'E] :3Aneledwo) Ajyuop OLT : pung
8T J0 1T abed S20T IHdy
Wd £0't S20Z/€T/S ‘swil/eeq sadueiquindug pue sainjipuadxy Jo JuswAnels D1 :Aq pajeas)
swel|jIipm JojAL uasn [owe) JUNO JO UMO) aInypuadxy Jo Juswalels Do :awepN ajejdwal



000 000 00°0 Sa0IMRS [eBa
00°0 %69'TH1 05'v80°C 0S'+80'2 (00°000's) (00°000°S) 474
00'0 000 000 SSDIAIRS [EIPA
000 %00°0¢ (00'00t) 00001 {00°005) (00°005) 15
00'0 000 00°0 SSOIAISS UOREDIUNWILIOD JBY3Q puy auoydafal
86'8¢¢ %6’ Gb (¥9'52£'0) 9e'vLT'T (00°000°5) (00'000'S) SbT
00°0 000 000 SNl
£5'9SL'pT %9 10T $1'608'T $1°608TTT (00°000°0TT) (00°000°0TT) 124
00°0 00°0 00°0 sang
00'0 %16'Sh (00°061°T) 00°0T0'T (00°002'0) (00'002'0) S€T
00°0 000 00°0 SOIAISS JUIBIU]
8b'99 %b5'99 (89'297) €°TES (00°008) (00'008) 91z
00°0 00°0 000 Bujutel] puy uoneonp3 ssAojdw
00°0 %000 (00°000'2) 00'0 (00'000°2) (00°000'2) g
00'0 000 00°0 aouelnsut juswAiojdwsaun
00°0 %0/'¥T (zs'9£8) 8yeet (00°008) (00°005) Vig!
00°0 00'0 00'0 uoijesuaduio) S,USWHIOM
S/'161'6 %SS"0/L 85'/T6'EE 86'/25'8€ (00°'000°S) (00'000'S) 9pT
00'0 000 000 ueld Juswa1iiay 33Ao|dw3
6€'pLT %b!'SC (81°066'52) 78'600'6 (00°000°s€) (00'000'5€) evl
00°0 000 000 3oueinsut avAojdw3
0879 %E9'bT (eb"612'SH) £S°08L'PT (00°000"09) (00'000°09) wl
000 000 000 (a1eys saholdwl) IseQ
¥5'82 %L9'0b (28°998'1T) 8T°EET'8 (00°000'02) (00°000'02) Tp1
00°0 000 000 sebep BWIHBAQ
007252 %91°£9 (£0'926') L6'€L0°0T (00°000°ST) (00"000°ST) a
00°0 000 000 sobem
8b'96'¢ %EL O (bT'ses'vIT) 98'b/+'001 (00°000°512) (00"000'5T2) 114}
1amas  00ZzZS
aouelquniug pasn % ajqejieAy spung sduelquinouy ebpng |ejol sjuswpuswy P3[q0 J9ua) w(qo
[teny /saanypuadxy /396png jeuiblo qns 350D
aln dlA
%EE'ES :aAeIRdwO) AJUIUOIY ZTb : pung
8T 40 ST 9bed STO0Z ldy
Wd £0'b S20T/ET/S :@wiL/a1eq ssoueIqWNDUZ pue sainjipuadx] Jo Juswalelrs D91 :Aq pajeasd
SWRIIM JBJAL HE Joue) JUnoyy Jo UMOoL aiMipuadxz 4o Juswalels DO owenN ajejdwal



000 000 000 aoueUSUeRly puy Jjedsy uopess dwing
ALY %69°CT (91°18b'59) ¥8'815'6 (00°000's2) (00'000'52) 19¢
00°0 000 00'0 asuadx3 [an4
S0°STE %029 (6£'/90'D) 1z2'zep's (00°005'S) (00'005's) 13
00’0 000 000 asuadxg bunelado spIusA
S0'vZ8 %19 (1°€69°0) 68°90£°T (00'000°s) (00°000'5) 0ge
00°0 000 000 suuoyun puy Buiop
S8'TISk %69°T¢C (£b'v92'9) €541 (00"000'8) (00°000'8) 9z¢g
0070 000 000 sjednway)
81°590°C %L PL (€0'990'S) L6°E€6'PT (00°000°02) (00°000°02) [443
000 000 000 saddng bupersdo
€P'0Eb'T %59'2€T 02,68 0Z°,68'61 (00'000'sT) (00*000°sT) 1743
00'0 000 00°0 abeisod puy salddng 2oUJ0
00°0 %T/'80T b5'ep ¥5°€bS (00°00%) (00°00%) 01€
00°'0 000 000 $334 UOISSIWWOD
00'220C %0€'T0T 00°652 0065’0 (00°000'02) (00°000'02) 86T
000 000 000 SIDIAIBS [enjoeuo)
0T'€££'9Z %25 TSET ' 102°001 ' 102/801T (00°000°8) (00°000'8) 06¢
00°0 000 000 [eAe1L
000 %00°0 (00°000'T) 000 (00°000°T) (00'000'T) 082
00°0 000 00°0 S)92.35 puY Speoy SdueuUIeR puy Jeday
000 %50'8 (95'9¢19) ' €95 (00°0002) (00°000°2) 897
000 000 000 SIDIAIDS BdURUBIULRLY pUY Jleday
00°0 %6082 9£'608°C 9£'608'Z1 (00"000°0T) (00°000°0T) 092
000 000 00'0 yoddng alemyjos/aiempley Jayndwo)
00°0 %000 (00'000'1) 00'0 (00°000'T) (00'000'T) 14
000 000 000 ssoluss Bunisauibu
0S'26£'S %95°00£ 9g'zIT'oTT 95°ZIT'0vT (00°000°02) (00°000°02) 274
00°0 000 00°0 s34 Bunipny puy Bununodoy
0070 %00'0 (00°000'2) 000 (00°000'20) (00'000'0) 174
Qoueiquinduy posn % a]qejieAay spung ssouelquindug 19b6png [ejol Sjudwipusuwy walqo J8jua) Pafqo
/1enpy /seinypuadx3 /3e6png |euiblQ qns 150D
ailn ala

%EE'ES :anieledwo) AjLuoly ZTb : pung
8T J0 9T abed SZ0z |udy
Wd £0'+ S20T/€T/S :awil /ajeq seoueIquINOUl pue sadnjipuadx3 JO JUBUIR}ELS 291 :Aq pajeasd
swel|ipm BjAL HEL ) [owJe) JUNol JO UMO] alnypuadx] Jo Juswalels DO :dweN ajejdwa)



00°0 000 000 2oueURUR 12100y 010Y/SSaid J°d
99'98 %T11'6C (Tv'€90'T) 65'9¢Y (00'005'T) (007005'T) 956
00'0 000 00°0 fesodsiq abpnis ug
L5'8T6'T %20'vC (£8°'886°LE) LT TT0'2T (00'000°05) (00°000°05) 756
00°0 000 000 awdinbg
000 %00°0 (00'00052) 000 (00"000'S4) (00°000'52) 0r6
000 000 000 sabiey) DIAIRS yueq
000 %00°0 (00'0zT) 000 (oo'0z1) (o0'0z1) 169
0070 000 00'0 3s0123u] eplL
£6'019'T %S9°ES (c2'18£'D) L1'81T'E (00"000°9) (00"0009) S£9
00°0 000 000 spuog Bulpunyay xel/AY £102
000 %00°0 (00*000°0b) 00°0 (00°000°0%) (00'000°0t) ¥19
00°0 000 000 S22 JiWiad a1els
000 %98'86 (00'0p) 00°09b'€ (00°005°€) (00°005'€) 965
000 000 000 uopenaidsg
000 %2T'9TT 00"789'8€ 00°789'84¢ (00°000°02) (00'000°0b2) 0bS
000 00°0 000 (e3usy Juswdinb3 puy Assuiydel
000052 %00°00T 000 00°000'sC (00°000'52) (00°000'52) £€s
00°0 000 000 ueInsul
00'0 %00°0 (00'000'12) 000 (00'000'12) (00°000'12) 01S
00°0 000 000 Snosue||R0s!i
00°0 %80'85 (ze61h) 8/'08S (00°000°T) (00°000'T) 6/
00°0 000 00'0 NOLLOMYLSNOD
00's2b's %LE'0 (Lbroce'ess'T) £5°699'9 (00'000°008°T) (00'000°008'T) 10b
00°0 000 000 0UBURUIRKY puy Jleday Jueld JS1eMBISEM
85°898'T %61°28 (9b'€06'8) $5°960'TH (00'000°05) (00"000°0S) ¥9€
00°0 000 000 SoUBURUIRKY puy Jieday sul 1ImMIs
000 %000 (00°005'T) 000 (00°005'T) (00°005'T) £€9¢
0070 000 000 3oueURUIR|Y puy Jiedey dwnd |eRuspisay
12'%29'C %56'G8 (00°"obS'01) 00°09+"%9 (00°000°54) (00°000°52) 79¢
9dueIqgWNOUZ posn % alqejieAy spung sIdJueiquinoug jobpng jeiolL sjuspuswy palqo Jajua) Palqo
/1enpy [seimypuadxa /1e6png jeulblIQ qns 150D
aiwW alA

%EE'ER :aAeledwo) Ajyjuow ZIb | pund
8T 40 /T 9bed ST0Z Iudy
Wd Z0'% S20T/ET/S :owi) /ejeq seouelqunoul pue sainjpuadxy Jo Juswajels M :Aq p=:qeasd
SWIB||ip 9JAL BEL [owae) Junojy JO UMoL ainyipuadx3 Jo WWawWRIeIS DO isweN ajejdwa)



00°0 00°0 000
05°09%'16 %66'PE (26'952'v66'T) 80°£98c£0'T (00°079890°€) (00°079'890°€) TIY :pund.iod|ejol
000 000 000 SI9MO|g Jue|d Jamas
000 %000 (00°000's) 000 (007000's) (00°000's) 956
aoueIquindug pasn % a|qejieAy spung saduelquinougy 196png [ej0) sjuswpuawy P3(qo0 23ua) ws[q0
/1lemdy /saimpuadx3 /1e6png [eulbLiQ qns 150D
aliW alA

%Es” :aAneled A

YoEE"E8 netedwo) Ajjiuol ZIb : pung
8T 40 g1 abed Szoz Iudy
Wd £0'¥ S20Z/T/S :owil/aeq saduelquinouz pue sainjipuadxy jo Juswaiels D91 iAq peyeal)
SWIet||Ip J9JAL BT [owie) JUnop Jo UMo]L alnyipuadxy jo Juswalels Do :eweN ejdwa]



Mount Carmel Fire Department

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

May 1st, 2025
To: James Stables, City Manager
Ref: April 2025 Monthly Report

The Mount Carme! Fire Department answered a total of 36 calls for service during the month of
April. Day shift personnel answered 23 calls, and 13 calls were answered by the volunteer staff.
Our average dispatch to arrival time was 5:41 with a 90t percentile of 11:04. Calls for this month
included a structure fire, brush fire, multiple vehicle accidents, and medical responses. This

brings our year-to-date total of 151 calls for service.

Over the month of April, multiple annual projects occurred, including fire pump and aerial
testing. This NFPA and ISO requirement is performed by a third-party company who certifies the
apparatus for another year. All Mount Carmel apparatus passed testing. Members also
participated in several public relations events including Oak Grove Baptist Church and Mount
Carmel Elementary School. Administration staff worked considerably on projects and priorities

for our upcoming budget year.

During April, Mount Carmel members completed a Tennessee Fire and Codes Enforcement
Academy course in self-contained breathing apparatus. This 16-hour course is a pre-requisite for
upcoming rapid intervention team training. Members also completed a Tennessee Emergency
Management Agency lithium battery class. We would like to congratulate Firefighter Noah
Graziano for obtaining his National Registry EMR certification, Firefighter Hayden Joyner
obtained Fire Officer || certification, and Firefighter Caleb McKinley obtained Hazardous
Materials Operations certification. These members are dedicated to serving the town to the

highest level possible.
Thank you and the BMA for your continued support.

Mitch Walker, Fire Chief

100 EAST MAIN STREET, MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE 37645
T (423) 444-1027 E MCFD@MOUNTCARMELTN.GOV



A eso Total Record Volume By Incident Type

Custom v Apr1,2025 - Apr 30,2025 v

5
a
3
INCIDENTS
In Selgeted Tinne Shen
3 0 1 /\ /\
DAYS
I Selected o
Apr2 Apr4 Apré Apr8 Apr10 Apri2 Apr 14 Apri6 Apr 18 Apr 20 Apr22 Apr 24 Apr26 Apr28  Apr
1 0
!
Jan'22 Jui'22 Jan'23 Jul*23 Jon ‘24 Jul'24 Jan'25 P
. Wl
% Rows % Columns % All
Week Ending 4/6/25 4/13/25  4/20/25  4/27/25 5/4/25 5/11/25  5/18/25 5/25/25 6/1/25 6/8/25 6/15/25 6/22/25 6/29/25 Total
(11) Structure | 1
Fire

(14) Natural
vegetation fire

(=]

(31) Medical
assist 5 1

(32) Emergency

medical 3 3
service (EMS)

incident

(46) Accident,
potential 1 2
accident

(55} Public
service 2 1
assistance

r
N

(56}

Unauthorized 1
burning

{60) Good

intent call, 1
other

(61)

Dispatched 2

and canceled

en route

(62) Wrong

location, no 2 1
emergency

foun

(63) Controlled 1
burning

Total 16 7 6 5 2

Page 1 of 1

"

36



MOUNT CARMEL

ﬂ/géwc 2o ,aaz‘f/nw vz 40074

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: May 22, 2025

RE: ORDINANCE NO. 25-540 (Second Reading)

SUMMARY:

Second Reading and Public Hearing of Ordinance # 25-540, An Ordinance of the Town of
Mount Carmel, Tennessee, Adopting the Annual Budget for the Fiscal Year Beginning July
1, 2025, and Ending June 30, 2026

Please refer to the attached Ordinance and provided Budget Book for further detailed
budgetary information

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

See attached information for total fiscal impact
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval

ATTACHMENTS:

Ordinance 25-540

FY 2026 Budget Book (provided in-person)



MOUNT CARMEL

ﬂ/;/ara 7o putdantr 4ac?l

ORDINANCE # 25-540

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE ADOPTING
THE ANNUAL BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2025, AND

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

WHEREAS,

ENDING JUNE 30, 2026

Tenn, Code Ann. § 9-1-116 requires that all funds of the State of Tennessee and all
its political subdivisions shall first be appropriated before being expended and that
only funds that are available shall be appropriated; and

the Municipal Budget Law of 1982 requires that the governing body of each
municipality adopt and operate under an annual budget ordinance presenting a
financial plan with at least the information required by that state statute, that no
municipality may expend any moneys regardless of the source except in accordance
with a budget ordinance and that the governing body shall not make any
appropriation in excess of estimated available funds; and

the Governing Body has published the annual operating budget and budgetary
comparisons of the proposed budget with the prior year (actual) and the current year
(estimated) in a newspaper of general circulation not less than ten (10) days prior
to the meeting where the Board will consider final passage of the budget.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE TOWN
OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1:

That the governing body projects anticipated revenues from all sources and
appropriates planned expenditures for each department, board, office or other
agency of the municipality, herein presented together with the actual annual
receipts and expenditures of the last preceding fiscal year and the estimated annual
expenditures for the current fiscal year, and from those revenues and unexpended
and unencumbered funds as follows for fiscal year 2026, and including the
projected ending balances for the budget year, the actual ending balances for the
most recent ended fiscal year and the estimated ending balances for the current
fiscal years:

1of5



General Fund 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026

Revenues Audited Estimated Budgeted
Local Taxes S 2,387,276 S 2,460,000 S 2,500,640
Licenses and Permits 10,6590 8,000 9,000
Intergovernmental 1,452,025 1,137,305 1,995,650
Fines and Forfeitures 79,065 44,050 76,050
Miscellaneous Revenues 168,700 273,800 389,800
Total Revenues and Other Financing Sources 3 4,007,764 3,923,155 $ 4,971,140
Appropriations
Expenditures
General Government S 215,598 S 593,940 S 445,860
Administration 461,835 491,750 639,163
Police Department 472,825 590,000 829,275
Animal Control 26,041 22,500 6,000
Fire Department 430,506 445,050 1,304,860
Building Inspector 27,731 75,200 85,100
Public Works 571,233 908,250 1,144,350
State Street Aid 282,343 117,500 177,000
Solid Waste 332,160 343,200 275,000
Recreation 74,506 37,300 517,050
Debt Service 12,793 12,903 12,843
Intergovernmental Expenditures 432,387 - =
Library 71,600 71,540 100,335
Total Appropriations S 2,411,958 S 3,710,033 S 5,536,936
Change in Fund Balance S 697,813 S 213,122 & {565,796}
Beginning Fund Balance 5 7,030,260 S 7,728,073 5 7,941,195
Ending Fund Balance 5 7,728,073 S 7,941,185 S 7,375,399
Ending Fund Balance as % of Appropriations 226% 214% 133%
Sewer Fund 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026
Revenues Audited Estimated Budgeted
Qperating Revenues s 975,361 S 976,100 $ 1,315,850
Sewer Operating Expenses 954,822 893,820 1,401,800
Depreciation 273,023 280,000 250,000
Net Operating Income {Expense} ) {252,484) S (197,720) & (375,950}
Net Nonoperating Revenues {Expenses) S 1,339,540 S 333,743 $ 1,653,650
Change in Net Position 5 1,087,056 S 136,023 § 1,277,700
Change in Net Position 1,087,056 S 136,023 § 1,277,700
Estimated Beginning Net Position 7,242,629 8,329,685 S 8,465,708

wr N

8,465,708 S 9,743,408

5
S

Estimated Ending Net Position S 8,329,685
f




Drug Fund 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026
Revenues Audited Estimated Budgeted
Drug Related Fines $ 786 $ 1,000 $ 1,000
Drug Contributions 13,580 4,600 36,500
Total Revenues and Other Financing Sources $ 14,366 $ 5600 $ 37,500
Appropriations
Expenditures
Drug Fund Operations $ 1,069 $ 2,000 $ 35,000
Total Appropriations $ 1,069 $ 2,000 $ 35,000
Change in Fund Balance $ 13297 $ 3.600 "8 2,500
Beginning Fund Balance $ 13,439 % 26,736 $ 30,336
Ending Fund Balance $ 26,736 $ 30,336 % 32,836

SECTION 2: At the end of the fiscal year 2025, the governing body estimates fund balances or
deficits as follows:

General Fund S 7,941,195
Sewer Fund S 8,465,708
Drug Fund S 30,336

SECTION 3: That the governing body recognizes that the municipality has outstanding bonded
and other indebtedness as follows:

Debt
Authorized Principal FY 2026 FY 2026
Type of and Outstanding ‘ Debt Debt
Indebtedness Unissued atJune 30, 2025 Interest Principat
Sewer Revenue Bond $ - $ 84,914 $ 3,200 $ 45,000

SECTION 4: During the coming fiscal year (2026) the governing body has planned capital
projects with proposed funding as follows:

[ Proposed Proposed Amount Proposed Amount Proposed Amount Total Proposed

Capital Financed by Financed by Financed by Capital

Projects Appropriations Grants Debt Projects
Police Vehicle (x2) $ 120,000 $ 120,000
CGBD Fire Truck Grant $ 100,000 | $ 420,000 $ 520,000
Fire Chief Vehicle $ 80,000 $ 80,000
FEMA Hazard Mitigation | $ 30,000 | $ 210,000 $ 240,000
Parking Lot Paving $ 100,000 $ 100,000
Security System $ 30,000 $ 30,000
Updates to P/W Building | $ 100,000 $ 100,000
P/W Equipment $ 130,000 $ 130,000
Library Equipment/Bldg. | $ 25,000 $ 25,000
LPRF Park Grant $ 200,000 | $ 200,000 $ 400,000
Totals: $915,000 $830,000 $1,745,000

30of5



SECTION 5:

SECTION 6:

SECTION 7:

SECTION 8:

SECTION 9:

SECTION 10:

SECTION 11:

SECTION 12:

No appropriation listed above may be exceeded without an amendment of the
budget ordinance as required by the Municipal Budget Law of 1982 (Tenn. Code
Ann. § 6-56-208). In addition, no appropriation may be made in excess of available
funds except to provide for an actual emergency threatening the health, property or
lives of the inhabitants of the municipality and declared by a two-thirds (2/3) vote
of at least a quorum of the governing body in accord with Tenn. Code Ann. § 6-56-
205.

Money may be transferred from one appropriation to another in the same fund in
an amount of up to $25,000 by the Town Administrator, subject to such limitations
and procedures as set by the Governing Body pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 6-56-
209. Any resulting transfers shall be reported to the governing body at its next
regular meeting and entered into the minutes.

A detailed financial plan will be attached to this budget and become part of this
budget ordinance.

There is hereby levied a property tax of $1.5897 per $100 of assessed value on all
real and personal property.

This annual operating and capital budget ordinance and supporting documents shall
be submitted to the Comptroller of the Treasury or Comptroller’s Designee for
approval pursuant to Title 9, Chapter 21 of the Tennessee Code Annotated within
fifteen (15) days of its adoption. If the Comptroller of the Treasury or
Comptroller’s Designee determines that the budget does not comply with the
Statutes, the Governing Body shall adjust its estimates or make additional tax levies
sufficient to comply with the Statutes or as directed by the Comptroller of the
Treasury or Comptroller’s Designee.

All unencumbered balances of appropriations remaining at the end of the fiscal year
shall lapse and revert to the respective fund balances.

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with any provision of this
ordinance are hereby repealed.

This ordinance shall take effect July 1, 2025, the public welfare requiring it.

Passed 1% Reading: April 24, 2025

Passed 2" Reading: May 22, 2025

4 0of 5



Voting by the Board, as follows, on April 24, 2025, First Reading:

Z
o

Alderman Patrick
Alderman Binstock
Alderman Cross
Alderman Shugart
Alderman Gilliam
Vice Mayor Bare
Mayor Gibson

xxxxxxxg

Voting by the Board, as follows, on May 22, 2025, Second Reading:

Yes No
Alderman Patrick
Alderman Binstock
Alderman Cross
Alderman Shugart
Alderman Gilliam
Vice Mayor Bare
Mayor Gibson

John K. Gibson, Mayor
ATTEST:

Tyler S. Williams, Town Recorder

50f5



T 99eq

| 000291 | 000791 79v'791 PIv 193115 1€15 TSSEE
- 00v' 00t S9Y'C Xe] 1339 21815 OESEE
000'689 000789 EV6'7L9 Xe] sajes 21e1s OTSEE
1 000°S - 000°s | 000°s Ateqi] -Ayuno) woly saueln TTLEE
' 000°0C 1 000°0C 1 0000¢C ad1j -Ayuno) wouy syuelH OT/LEE
“ | - | €SET sjuetp Aeiqr| 06Z€€
£ 000°01¢ _ 1UBJD UONESIIIA PJeZeH VINIA TZLEE
 000°0TY _ | 18E°TEY 1uel9 990D OTTEE
' 000°0€T  SOVTTT JUelD BWOH 06TEE
000°0T | 000°0T €67 (3ueto AMlgISIA YSIH) OSHL 6ZveEeE
1 00000 - | 000s 1UeID JYd7 18IS ETPEE
- 008V - 00T'e 1 009°S _ (150d) Aed |ejuawa|ddng a1e15 OTYEE
1 00T 1 005CC $ | 6ESTC S| 19BU0D |eI50d TETEE
| DNUBAJY |eIUDWUIBA0SIDU|
000°6 $ 000'8 $ | 069°0T $ sHwIad pue sasuadl [e30)
00S 009 SHUIRd/sasus0l 4399 007TE
10058 10008 | 069°0T snwiad ulp|ing 0T9ZE
SHWI3d g S9suUdI
0v9‘00S‘C  $  000°09¥'T $ oLT't8Ec  § | saxe] |ed0] |e30L
1 000°09 - 000°09 | 8£8°09 asiyoueld 3|qed Jauey) ZI6TE
1 000SS 000°ZS €10°0S Xe| 193¢ 3|eS3|OYM OTLTE
' 000°008 | 000°008 £ 960969 xe] sa|es uoidQ |e207|0TITE
B - 00S°E | 0007 80T B xe] Aiiadosd a_mcmn_”ooﬂm
_ - 000°0F - 000vE 1 98L°te " saxe| Aniadoud Juanbuijaa 00TTE
 OPTZPS'T $ 000°€1ST $ | 6SYOPST S| saxe] Ayadosd 00TTE
soxe] |eJ0q
_ SINNIAIY
| paiadpng pajewiisy paupny |
| 9202-5202 S20Z-v20T 202-£20Z _
pun4d |eiouan OTT
| ) | | 33SSINN3L “73NY¥VI INNOW 40 NMOL
| 9707-S20¢ | ST0T-HTO0T ¥20Z-£202 |




Z 99eq

| Lo0‘Tt $
OVT'ILE6Y  $  SST'ET6'E $ voL'L60'Y  $ |
 008°68€ $  008'€LT $ ooL'g9T  §
000'SY | 000°Z€ | €€9'TY |
|
| | 91885 |
- 000°00€ £ 000°00T | €E0'9€
008 008 :
| 000°€E | 000°€€ | 60€'8T
005 | |
- 000°0T 1 0008 L 0LT'el
| 00§ .  6€9
|
| 050°9L $ | 050'pY $ 690°6L $
0007 0007 S 8STT S |
1 000°ST 1 000°52 $ 9voee S|
| 00008 000°8T $  Sp8'SS S |
0§ 0§ $ 0z $
r ) |
- |- $|- $
| |
| | |
| |
| L |
| 0S9°S66'T  $  SOE'LETT $ 620TSY'T S
| 0SY'T | 00€°T £65T _
| 00SC. 005 i
1 00089 1 00089 | TL0'L9
1 000°0T | 00007 Tov'or
| 000'8€ 000'LE LLT'E

s321nos Sulpueuly 1oy

INN3AIY TVLOL

9NUdAdY J9Y10 _muo._..
m:Omcm__wUm__\,_"ommwm
wawdinb3 jo sjes 0gE9E
$91313UT 91eALId WOy uoneuod|s669¢
s3uluJed 159J91u| Q0T9E
394 uoneud 1d11-3 0TEYE
1enuo) AemysiH 91e1s | OTEYE

(enuanay g suoneuo() Juswiedaq 301|10d | TZLEE

(anuanay 7g suoreuo() Juawiiedaq aJi4 0TZEE

(snuanay g suoljeuo() Aleaqny 6T/EE
anuanay Jaylo,

saljjeuad 1@ sauld _mpoh
(s1s0D g ssul{) 14no) Auno)|p9Tse
1UBWadJI0oJu] 010yd ZTTSE
(51507 18 saul4) Lno) AW OTTSE
(uondopy ‘saul ‘s394) |0J1U0D [BWIUY OTSHE
sanjeuad g sauly

331A136 10} saSiey) |ero] |

_
2JIAIDS 10} sa31 eyd _

3NUDADY |eJUBWIUIBA0SIU| _muoh_
anuanay mco_pmu_c:EEOuw_wl_..Hmmwm
Xe| UOI}ezIuIapo|p co_umtoamcm_._..wmmmm
(sexe] jo nary ui JuawAed) VAL T6SEE
3umaqgsyiods zesee
Xe| 3ul|oses) 31e1S | 7SSEE




€ 99ed

098'sty S 0v6'€E6S S | 866'STC S BWUIBA0D |es3uap (ejo)
| 000°SC 000°0S¢ | 090°TT suoljenouay Jouaul/AeinQ jexded ov6
' 000°0€T ”mo_}: . el wEo_._momm
1 009'T 009'T 1 0S0°T QaNYIY 92L
00S°C 005°C : JaqWiey) "0D SUBMEH T/
| 000°€€ | 000°€E | 000°0€ 193U8) §,UdZ JOIUBS €7/
00S'C 1 00S'T 1 000 VHHLH 7L
| 09£/SE | SE€9'T | SE9'T aaid oes
” 000'ST 005‘8 - 0sT sadiey) a0IAI9S jueqd 169
= - - weusdoud A1ojeS! 716G
0006 - 000°6 1 90T‘9 5150 [esiesddeay 155
1 000°SZT - 000°SZT 9TLLTT @0uRJNSU| 0TS
| - - (2207) " $321A495 SunaauIsug St
| 000 | 008'T | L0S'T _ 13410 pue duoydaaL sz
00081 00081 898'9T | sam|in ove
00082 00052 797’9t | Yoea.3n0 AjUNWIWOD/suone[RY jAnd 9T
00S‘v 000y | 9TL'E sa94 uonessiday pue sdiysIdquId ‘sand SEe
00071 $ | (5924) uauLIap|y g JoAeI 19T
“ 7 . _ UBWUIBA0D [e3U3D 000TY
| | | ) | muz:h_nzw_xm_ﬁ
|
|
| SEE'TT6TT  §  8TT'TSI'TT $ | TE0OPTTT § | uonendosddy 1oy ajqejieny’
| |
__ SeTIVEL ¢ | £L0'8TL'L $ 09z'0€0'L $ | “souejeg pung Sujuuisag| -




p 99eq

| €9T'6€9 $ | 0SL'T6V $  SE8'TIV $ uonessIuIIPY €301
000°S 000'T = wawdinb3 ;g 13Indwo) £v6
- 000 $ 000 0 wawdinb3 ov6
| 00ST $ 00S'T 474 191do)-aseaq Junesado 579
0057 $ 0008 790'9% SNO3UE||9ISIN 6LY
| 002'T $ 002C 9LLT saiddng somog Asunld | ZT€E
1 0058 $ 1000'8 €7L'8 sa||ddns 22440 0T€
00S°C $ 000 6L0'T (493seIA 73 3149]D) S92 UOISSIWWOD) 86T
- w 0 _O S3JIAI3G |endenuo) 06¢
| 00S'L $ 00S°C €99 |2Ael] 087
| 000'ST $ |000°0T geL'er Jieday JuleN pue Sulping 997
_ €27°9T 0SP'ST SYO'YT (aa14d) se3tasas Bujuoz pue 3uluueld /ST
| 000'8€ $ 000°0€ 6CC'8€E uoddng aiemyos/aiempleH J3Indwo) S5z
000°sY $ 000Ty LTy 5324 1pNY 78 BURUNOIY €5T
- 000°s€ $ 000°0€ 899'€E ~ SdIIMIBS |33 ST
| 002 $ 00 Sp S3DINIS [eIIPBIN TST
| 0087 $ 008 009°¢ °8pnr Aud 0sz
000°€ $ 000 E0 BUISILBAPY LET
000°S S | suonejay Aqnd 9€T
00s'8 $ 0057 [1%4 994 uonel3siday pue sdiysiaquisin ‘sana SeT
- $ 0 0 Aoyany 8uisnoH €7
ovTE $ 0 0 ) S30INMBS GIM | LTT
00T $ 0021 S80°T S3DINIDS J2UIR1U[ 9T
1000VT 0588 (s994) uswiap|y 18 JoAeiy 19T
| 000°L $ 0SLT 6L9T Sujures) pue uoneonp3 gyt
_ 099 m 099 €9¢ a2Jduelnsui ucwE>O_QEw:D.N._w._”
| 005 $ |000°L 989 - uonesuadwo) SIBOM 9pT
000'8T $ |000°€T S08°0T uejd JuaWaINY d3kodwa | evT
0098t $ 000°SY vTLTY doueunsul adAojdw3| ZyT
- 00T'7T $ 000°0¢ 7S0'ST (24eys s,49A0]dwi3) IseQ THT
1009 $ | | ~ snuog seunsyyd peT
| 0SL'6TE $ 000522 S €01 § ~ sefemtan

uonensIuWpY 00STY




G afed

S/T'678  $ | 000065 $ se8uUvr S

- 000°07T 00009 -
000°0T 000°0T | TE6'T

| 000'T 1 000°T €60'T
000°€ 1 00S'T 8%S'E
005'T | 00S'T 'Y

0001 | 005 | SET

100002 | 000'ST 98€'TT

| 00052 £ 000'ST PPETT

| 008 1008 E
005y 1 005°S T66'L

sLL's 000 611
000°0T | 000°S 415

| 000V 000% TEYT

| 00€T | |

1 005C 1005 | 0LS'T

£ 000 000ST 6Ty
00001 | 000°ST | SS6'E
| 009 009 | ST6

1 0009 10009 867G
00€ 002 =

00’ L 00v'T €T
000°T | 000'T PTE'T

- 000'8T | 000°ST gTr'E

| 005 | 005 | 6S¢€

| 000°ZT | 000TT | #S6°0T
| 000°0€ 000°7C YST'TT
0000t 000°Z€ 8L8'LY
000°T€ 0009¢ L 2T9°€T

0oL’ | |

- 000°0C | 000°0C | vY8YT
oov'ozy S| 000°00€ $ pEOTLT S

juawyedaq a21jod [e101
wawidnb3 ove
el Apaisia ysiH S0z
1a1do) -aseaq Sunesadp! 579
sadieyd A1ajes jo 1daq gog
SNOBUE(|RISIN 6.1
~ olpey 9gg
[°nd|TEE
asuadx3 SuilesadQ 9DIYaA|0EE
saljddns 19211 3 62€
swiopun pue Suyio)d|9ze
S1S3/ JOOUd 19)ng | SZE
sy ddns 3unesadQ|0gE
sa|iddns 2040 0T €
$92IAJ9S |ENIDEIIUOD JAYI0 06T
~ |eneaLoge
Jleday pue soueualuiey 3uip|ing|99g
1oddng whm\suu.om\whmsvhmz.LmH:anu. (o4
$92IAIBS [BIIP3IA | TST
auoydajal sye
sang Sg¢

(T116) Wod3 617
S92IAJeS J2Ul_lu] 9T¢

Suiulelj pue uonesnpy wm>o_aEHw3
Juelnsu| EwE>o_QEmcD_D§
uonesuadwo) §,340M (91T

ue|d 1uswainay a3Aojdw] ey
2ouelnsu| wm>o_aEm.N3

aleys JoAo|dws - |SYO TYT

snuog sewisuy) vt

sagep aWIIBaAQ (22T

safep 12T

Juswiedaq 231104 |00T ey




g a8ed

008 008 108
0006 000'6 1928
| 000G | 005°€ | S18'C
| 005 05T 0§
1 0008 005V 628V _
00v | 00€ | g€z
00z€ 000€ et
005°0T | (8£2'T)
- 00t'0T | 00S'S | ¥£0'9 .
| 006°T $ | | |
| 09T'SET S 000'TL $  €09'L9 S |
| |
| 0009 $ | 006'z2 $  1w0‘9z S
| - -
00T'T 685'T
00T 18
o 1 )
0 | T9€
- 0 -
008 95
o | -
+ O — ! -
0009 10009 | §L0°S
|0 I
| 05 K
| 059 | L€9
. (667)
10007 R14A
0001 | €28'ST S|

suoydalal Ske
saMRN OvZ
apeteq/suoiejay Jljqnd 8€T
s9nq 6T
Sujuies] 13 uonednp3 gyt
asuelnsuj JuswAojdwaun | ZpT
uonresuadwo?) s J40M 9YT
ue|d Juawainay aAojdw3 £y
Emmmlhw\,o_m:\_ﬁm.qlo_gﬁ
snuog sewisuyd vET
sagem 11

juawiiedaq ai14|00Z2y

[043U0) [EWIUY [e10] |
wawdinb3 ov6
lond T€€
asuadx3 SunesadQ 3PIYSA 0EE
swJogun pue SulyIo)) 9z¢
sa||ddng Sunesadp 0ze
S32IAIDS |eJIPBIN | TST
auoydaal svg
SN | OvT
sanq|see
$994 12113YS 0LT
3uluies] g uoneanp3 gy
duednsu| JusawhAojdwaun VT
uonesuadwo?) s JaX)JOM 91T
ue|d Juswalnay asAoldwl syt

~ aueys sahojdwy - _m<OT¢Ia

snuog sewisuyy veT

sadem 1T
_O._H.COW_WE_CG..IOO#Nﬂ




/ 98e(d

000°SL (31ing34vS) $92IAIBS [enideIIU0D JBYIO 06T
- | |- | 1AR1L 087
000°0T E 0St'L ” uolH|owaq 697
- [= | T9€ . auoydajal stz
E = L€T | Sa11N 0¥T
|- | 000'SL 8T . sanq|sez
- - 6L¢C S3IINIDG 19UIB1U[ (9T
| - = | 0S¢ _ Suluiel] g uoneonpl gyt
- - i _ soueunsu| JuswAhojdwaun ZpT
E | - 8561 _ uonesuaduwo s JDUIoM 9y T
- - 6.8 | aJeys sohodwi3 - 1SYO TvT
BE $ |- $ 08L'6 $ | sageM 171

J1032adsu) Suipjing 0Zv Ty

| | SETOVT'T  $ 0S6'LSO'T $ ueete  $ Majes oqnd [e3oL |
| |
| _096'VOE'T  $  0S0'Sty $ go0soey  $ | uawyedaq 14 0L
000509 000°0€¢ | 69997t _ wswdinb3 ov6
000°0CT Suined T€6
| 0000vC _ _ UeIO UONESINIA PIeZeH VINIH E€L
| 000'T | 005C 8v8ST | SN03UE||2SIN 6LY
0008y | 00081 68Y'CT | wawdinby yuswiiedag a4 pye
| 1 000°S | 000°s 8vY oipey 9eE
| 0009 10009 | £60'S I lony TEE
| ooo'og 00002 | 809'6C | asuadx3 Sunesado IPIYaA OEE
000 | 000°€ 1 08L'T . suuoyun pue SuIyio|) 9ze
000t 1 000°C | 0ST'6T _ sal|ddns Sunesado|oze i
_ 000°T 1 000°T ~ 98v _ sanddng 030 0T€
| 1000 1 000°C 8651 S3IAIAS |EN3OR1IUOD 06T
- 00s0T 00v°0T | Tees _ 3unsa] eyso 18¢
1 000°T 000°T | TEw _ |oAeiL 08T
| | 000°0F | 0SL'TY | €86'ST ateday 13 JuteN BuIp|ing 997
_.. 005y | 00S‘E | €T€ . 1oddng asemijos/arempiey ESanwmmN

| 00T 0s 197 S3JIAIDS [eIIPIIN TST




g aSed

0SEVYI'T  $  0SZ'806 $ | €€TTLS $ wawpedaq oM dliqnd |eloL
' 000°0€T | 000'0€T | L8T'6TT wuswdinb3 ov6
| 000°05€ | 000'S.Z LSE'LE Buined T€6
00596 | spunoi9 g 3uIpling M\/d -Aepno [exnded zze
| 000'T 1 000°T 8L lleday d3euleiq 8y
000°T 000'T T SNO3UE||3ISIN 6L
| 0058€ | 000'SE 896°LT |and TeE
| 000°S€E | 000°9T 8v8'/T asuadx3 unesadQ 3pIYaA 0EE
| 000°s | 00§ vST'E suuoyun pue 8ulylo|d 9z€
£ 0006 0008 695°TT saiddns Sunesado oze
008 - 00§ 1% saljddns 2140 0OT€
000°C 1 0007 01Z'C uisea Juswdinb3 y67
| 00§ - - |anelL | 08T
| 000'ST 10002 6901 1eday peoy 1@ SIUBUSUIRIN 199135 89T
| 00S'E | 0SL'E 9LL9 Jieday 1 2oueuuleN SuIpjing 997
| 00s - 00s see - S90IAI3S |RAIPBIN TST
1 008'C 1 008C | TEL'T auoyda|aL stz
10058 0058 9ET'L SaM|1IN OvT
1 000C 1 000C €€8'T SIIAIS 13U} 9TT
00S°T - . Buiuies) 7@ uoneanp3 gyt
| 0ot | 00¢ LT aaueinsu| uswAoidwaun | zpT
| 00L6 - 00t'6 6506 uoijesuadwo) s YoM 9vT
| 000'8T 000'ST | STL'9T uejd JuawaJi3ay aakojdw3 4T
00005 | 000°Er oLT'8Y aouelnsuj aakojdw3 zpT
0057C | 00081 8888l sJeys Jakojdw - ISYO THT
| 00S°€ | B . snuog sewslyd vET
| 0009 0009 $ 9€C’e $ | safe 2WIBA0 TTT
| 0ST'6CE $  000STT $ w86vee  $ | sa8eM 1T
awiiedaq s}4o0Mm !jqnd 00TEY
| 00T's8 $ | ooz'se $ teL'Lz $ iopadsul Sulpiing jeol,
I'= | 1uawdinb3 o6
00T 00T 16T SNOBUE|RISIN 6.1
i ) 00T G56'T ~ svyddng Sunesado ozg




6 98ey

| 0S0'LIS  $  OOE'LE $ | 90S'vL $ uopeaay |ejoL

1 000°0TT - 000°0€ 776'8€ | uoesad pue uawdojanaq Jed sTL
= | | | puel 0T6
00000 | 0000072 ._ URID J4d1 STL
05T 00§ 00°08L'9 . SN03Ue|SIN 6LY
| 00ST | 00S°T 00°6L°T | sal|ddng Sunesado ozt
| 00€ | 00€ 000 | Yled [ELOWSIA JeM UBIDIDA 00E
| 000°S 000' $ 00°E0E‘S | SN 0T

uol1ealddy Obriy

000's£2 $ | 00E'EVE $ oor'zEE  $ 31SEM PI|OS [e101
000'€C 080°61T asuadx3 SunesadQ dIY2A OEE
| 005 $ T8t | sai|ddns Sunesado oze
| 000SLT £ 0005tT $ STH'TPe | (yseuL 1odsBuiy) s1AIBS [eN10RIIUOD 06T
- $ 0 |e21PaIN TST
001 S |ty oueunsu| JuswAojdwaun | /T
_ ' oov $ p6¢g . uonesuadwo?) s JJOM 9YT
| | 000'% $ T¥8'E | ue|d Juawalney sakojdwy £vT
000°€T $ 7s8'sT | soueunsu| aahojdw3 zpT
00Ty $ 9€6'E aJeys sJahojdwy -1seQ THT
008 $ 0z8 _. sage/M 2WILAAQ 7T
| | 007'TS $ 81981 . sagem 12T
| | | | 21SeM PlI0S 00ZEY
_ |
| 000°LLT $  00S'LTT $ svezse S| ) ‘piy 192115 21e35 [el0]
000°S 1 000°TT 0 | wawdinb3 ov6
100005 S 0009 $ 085297 | B Suined Tg6
| 000°0Y $ | 000°0C $ |8TL'9E _ seljddns 13 s|eMaleIN 001
10007 $|000T $ w9y _ aoueualulely 31T dujelL [EpE
| 000°s $ 005V $1980C sal|ddns g sued usis zye
| 000°SL $  000'SL $ |L6v'SL | BUBYSI 19335 LT

1 P!V 19341S 31e1S 06TEY




o1 99eq

A $  €06°CT $ | e6L'TT S 331A195 199 €30
| 0SL | 05L L 1saJ4a1u| || co_a_bmg:m_ooq
| 008°S | 008°S 8GL'S lediould 1] uondudsqns| 00g
144 681 6TL 159491U| 2531 |6
7%0°9 | 98'S $ | vLS‘S S | sjuawAed |edidulid 3sea] 00T

| . 9JIAISS 1430 00006

| L8E‘CEY S | saJn}ipuadx3 [ejusawiuIanoSulau| _So._._
| L8E'TEY _ 109[0ud Wwia1sAS 1918 M\ DEAD TZOZ 00F
s21n1puadx3 [eluUdWUIBA03I3| 0SSO

| SEE00T $ Ob6'TL $ | 009TL $ | Areaqr jerol
1 000'LT | | Aepng exded ov6
000 10007 9L wei01d Buipesy Jawwins Tz,
| 00§ | 00S €9Y sa1do) -asea Supesado 579
005 1000 . . yues Sujures) Ateiqn 619
| 008'S | 00E'S 1 200'S | sY008 06t
00 00t 9T | SNO3UR||30SIN 6L
1 00L'T 1 000°C | 6ST'T _ s91|ddns 221440 0T€
00S 00Z PIT lonel 1| 08¢
| 000°€ | 00ST | £9S'L _ Jieday 13 a3ueuayule|y 8ulp|ing 997
| 0059 | 00¢€ ETa%3 . voddng a1emios/aiempiey J9Indwiod 56z
00T | oot | - | S3DIAI3S [BIDP3INI TST
| 00z | 008 6LL | duoyda|a) vz
1 009'C 1 009'C | §95C | SaMIN 02
| 008'T | 00S°T ST | 19UIBI| 9TT
1 000'T 009 | vSS | Bulutel] g S:S:Bﬁﬁ
L ovT ovT 65T douesnsu| JuawhAojdwaun | /4T
oozt 00T 659 . uonesuadwo) s JBOM 9vT
| 0S9°€ | 00€°E | ToL'e | aieys sakodw3 - ISYO TYT
| 008 | _. | snuog sewIsuyd yEr
Stv'sy | 000'SH $ T6T'TY $ | sageM 12T

_ _ Aseaqny 008PY




11 39e4

| 98Y0ET’L
| 78T'969°L

|
| 66E'SLE'L

(96L'595)

| 9€69€S’S

$ | 282°969'L

$ _ 09T‘€8Y'L
$ | S6TIV6'L
$  zer'eTe

$ | €E0°0TLE

$ | 091€8Y'L
|
$ | 900°€6L‘9

$  €L0'82L'L

$ | €18'L69
_
$ | 8S6'TIV'E

ajuejeg yse) uipug

asuejeg yse) Suluuidag

aouejeg pung Suipu3|

1

|

sainypuadxd |

(19pun) 19A0 sanuanai o (U23P) SSIIXF

S3YNLIANIdX3 1VLOL




| 000°ST | 8TS8€
| 0007 | Teo'y
| 00ST Y6LE
1 00ST | 9ST'L
1 000°0C | 1P9ve
| | 000°0C | €90°€C
000056 000°0ST 858°ST
E = 9TT'T
| 005'E | 00S'E t89'S
000'ST | 000'ST | S€8'ST
E IE 1L
= = | LET'TOT
|- oSt S8
| 00S | 000°€ | 086°€
| 000°08T | 000°SLT | 0LT'8YT
E | 000°T | - |
- 008 008 | L06 _
- 1= LTS'T
| 0ST 16T
| 000°S | SO€L
000°0T | €66'TE
00L'€T 00T'Le
- 00t‘0T | 89L°LT
" | 000'TT | TOT'8
| | 000ET  $ | SS9'L0C S
“
0S8'STE'T  $ 00196 S T9E'SL6 S
| 00T | 00T | T56'C |
| 000°0T | 0008 | 089°€
| 000°¢ | 000°€ 1 00£L°C |
| 0SL'COE'T  $ 000596 S 620996 S
paiadpng pajewis3 paupny
9202-5202 STOZT-YZ0Z | ©T0T-£20C

Jjueuduley pue ieday uonels dung
lon|

asuadx3 3uizesadQ 9IYaA

swliojun pue 3uiyion

s|ealway)|

sa|ddns Bunesadg|

(y1eweufu)) Sa3IAISS [ENIIRIUOD 19410
[9nesy

speoy -2oueuajuie|y pue Jieday
S9JIAJAS SIUBUIIUIRIA pue __mammm
Joddns pue a1em1jos ajempieH Jd|

Buideaspuei pue ‘Buissauidul ‘9.njosuydly

$321AJ9S |EIIPAIN
auoydaa) |

sanIn

sang|

1aulay|

Suueag

adueInsuj EwE>o_aEmc3_
dwo) m__mvto>>_
usWaInsY |

2aueunsuj aako|dwy
a.eys sakodw3 -|SYo.
snuog sewisuy) |
awaAQ|

sogep |

SISN3dX3 DNILVYIdO

SINN3IAIY ONILYHIdO ._<._.O._...
S3NUIAY SNOBUE||IISIIA|

s994 de| Jamas|

5994 mﬂ_yc«_sui.
sadley) adIAIAS JAMAS|
SINNIAIY DNILYYIdO|

puny 1amas 7Ty
335SINNIL “TINYYI LINNOW 10 NMOL

19¢
TeE
oe¢
9ce
[443
0ce
06¢
08¢
89¢
09¢
95¢
AT4
TS¢
Stc
ore
SEC
9T¢
374"
LT
Il
134"
[474"
(472"
vEL
(44"
1t

66¢C.LE
96¢C.LE
v6l/E
0TcLE




60v'EVL'6

$ 80L's9v'8

S S89'6ZE'S

0€ sunr uonisod 19N 3ulpu3

| 80L'S9v'8  § S89'6TE'8 $ 6T9TWTL $ T Ainf uopisod 38N Suluuigag
_. 00L'LLT'T S €20'9ET  $  9S0°L80°T $ uonIsod 19N ui agueyy
| 0S9‘ES9'T ¢ EVL'EEE S OVS'6EE'T SINNIAIY ONILVYIdO-NON V101
| 000°8C 1 000'92 | Y9L'ST s3ujue3 3sasanu] 00T9€
[(00z€) | m - 1s3J93U| VAL S€9-0072S
| 058829'T | 678'8 | 888°TS vdv - 23dal S6TLE
. _ v16'86C S | 888TLTT Vdyy [e207 -sueip esepad  00T9€
(S3SN3dX3) '8 SINNIAIY DNILVHIMO-NON
(ose‘see)  $ (0zL'teT)  $ |(v8Y TST) (ss01) awoou| Buitesadg)
_
| 008‘T69'T  § OZ8'ELT'T $ SV8LTT'T sasuadx3 Sunesado 13 aAREAISUIUIIPY (€101
| 000°6€ $ | 0zo‘ze $ v89°0€ sasuadx3 JunesadQ Jomas |e10]
- 0¢tT = mwmgmr_u 9IIAIDS jueg 169
- 00S . VA 98e1s0d pue sasuadxy mu_to. 0TE
000°7C 00002 | €871C $994 U01398{|0) 86C
_ | 000C 1 000°C _ 8unipny/3uinunoddy €9C
_ 000°ST $  000°0T $ | ¥9g’9 CESIIVEINCES | 474
. SISNIdX3 TVHINID B u>:<Em_z_§a<._
008°259'T  $ 00Z‘TYT'T $ TIT'L6T'T sasuadx3 BunjesadQ Jamas |el0
000 00S'T | TEET S13MOJg JaMaS| 9s6
| 00S'T 1 000°T | STO'T 22UBURIUIBIA SS3Ud | 556
_ | - | 000°0€ | TOY'8S s94 |esodsiq @8pn|s| 56
_ 7 | | 6IEY asuadx3 1sa493u] <n_#_ S€9
| 00S°€ | 00S‘€ - ) ~ %3juwadalels 96|
_ | 000°06Z | 000°082 | £20'€LT uoneaidaq 0bS
| 000002 | 000°0L | 000'SE |e3uay Juswdinby 13 Asauiyoei £€5
1 000 1 000 | 1€6 ~ @oueunsul 0ts
| 000'T | 000°T | ETETT sasuadx3 snoaue|20sIN. 6LY
00005 | 830°09 Jleday pue soueuDIUIEIN JUE|d JOIEMIISEM 1213
_ i | 0051 | 16€1 ~ lleday pue sJuUBUBUIRIA AUl Jamas| £9¢
_ | 000°S6 | Z9T€E @dueudlUe|\ pue Jieday dwing [euapIsaY | 79€




CELTLT S EL9VT $ ELOTT $
CEL9WT  $ ELOTT $ ELOTT S
9£8'2€  $ 9€€0E $ 9EL'9C  §
| _
1005 $ | 009'€ $ L6T'ET ¢
| | |
000'SE  $ 0002 $ 690°T $
| 000'SE 1 000 | 690'T
|
9g8°L9 ¢ 9e€te  $ so8Lz  $
| | |
| 9EE'0E  $ 9€EL'9C S GEV'ET S
_ _
(00S'LE  $ | 009'S $ 99EVT  §
| 005°9€ | 009'F | 08S'€T |
0001 $ | 000'T $ | 98L S |
| |
_ p2128png pajewns3 paypny
9202-S520C = S20T-¥20T | ©T0T-€20T

FDNV1VE HSVYJ DNIAN3I

FONVYIVE HSVI ONINNIO3Y
|

3jue|eg pun4 m:_u:m_

sainypuadx3 (1apun) J2AQ SINUBARY 553IX7|
_

SIYNLIANIdX3 TVLOL
suonesadQ pund 8niq /t/

114744
SIYNLIANIAXT

uollenndoaddy 104 w_nm__m><_
ouejeg pun4 SuluuiSag

SINNIAIY TV10L

suolINgLIIu0) mEn___oommm

saul4 paje|dy 3n1a ovTSE
SINNIATY

pund 8nig /2T
33SSANNIL “13NHYD LNNOIN 40 NMOL




Toton of Mount Carmel, Tennessee Q
PROCLAMATIOS MOUNT CARMEL

A ptace 7o pat domwn s6a?)

WHEREAS, in 1962, President John F. Kennedy signed a national proclamation that designated
May 15 as Peace Officers Memorial Day when the flag is to be flown at half-staff by Public Law
103-322 (36 U.S.C. 175), and the week in which that date falls as National Police Week, approved
by a joint resolution of Congress on October 1, 1962, and;

WHEREAS, Every day police officers place their lives on the line in the United States, as
evidenced by routinely being listed in the top 25 most dangerous jobs, with 165 line of duty deaths
in 2024, according to the Officer Down Memorial Page, 6 of those police officers were from the
State of Tennessee, with 3 deaths from gunfire, 1 death from a vehicle crash, 1 death from
drowning, and 1 death from a duty-related illness, and;

WHEREAS, The Town of Mount Carmel wishes to publicly recognize and commend our local law
enforcement officers, our regional law enforcement partners, and all law enforcement officers
throughout the United States that faithfully protect our safety and security each and every day, and;

WHEREAS, The Town of Mount Carmel asks our citizens to please take notice of this date, and
record it for the future, and keep all our law enforcement officers in your thoughts and caring
regards year round.

NOW THEREFORE, I, John Gibson, Mayor of the Town of Mount Carmel, and on behalf of the
Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Mount Carmel, do hereby proclaim May 11t
through May 17% | 2025, as;

Pational Police YWeek

and May 15%, 2025, as;

Peace Officers Memorial Bay

in the Town of Mount Carmel and urge the residents of our community to support the law
enforcement community by displaying a blue ribbon or light up your porch with a blue light for
the entire week and lower your flags to half-staff on May 15™ in honor of our fallen peace officers.

In Witness Whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and caused
the Seal of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, to be affixed
this the 22" day of May, in the year two thousand twenty-five.

John Gibson, Mayor

PROCLAMATION: Initiated by Alderman Binstock
National Police Week, May 11-17, 2025, and Peace Officers Memorial Day, May 15, 2025



Woton of Mount Carmel, Tennessee

iBiR@ CIAMNATIOS MOUNT CAﬁMEL

A placc 7e prtiosma des

WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Education has honored Mount Carmel Elementary
School as a Tennessee Reward School for the 2020-2021, 2021-2022, 20222023, and 2023
2024 academic years, a rare and remarkable accomplishment reflecting consistent excellence in
education; and

WHEREAS, the Reward School designation is one of the highest distinctions awarded by the
Tennessee Department of Education, acknowledging schools that demonstrate exceptional
academic achievement and student growth across all student groups; and

WHEREAS, the students, educators, administrators, and families of Mount Carmel Elementary
School have collaboratively worked with heart, commitment, and perseverance to achieve and
sustain this distinguished level of performance year after year; and

WHEREAS, this recognition not only showcases students’ academic success, but also highlights
a strong school culture rooted in school pride, inclusivity, and a belief in the potential of every
child; and

WHEREAS, the Mount Carmel Elementary Wildcats have become a symbol of dedication,
determination, and school spirit within our community, serving as role models for excellence in
education and as a shining example of hope for the future of Mount Carmel; and

WHEREAS, the Town of Mount Carmel is proud to stand behind our Wildcats, celebrating the
strength of their achievements and the impact they have on the identity and future growth of our

community;

NOW, THEREFORE, I, John K. Gibson, Mayor of the Town of Mount Carmel, and on behalf of
the Board of Mayor and Aldermen, do hereby extend my heartfelt congratulations to Mount
Carmel Elementary School for being named a Tennessee Reward School for the 2020-2021,
2021-2022, 2022-2023, and 20232024 school years and commend every teacher, staff member,
student, and family involved for their unwavering commitment to educational excellence and the
betterment of our community.

In Witness Whereof, [ have hereunto set my hand and caused
the Seal of the Town of Mount Carmel, Tennessee, to be affixed
this the 22" day of May, in the year two thousand twenty-five.

John K. Gibson, Mayor

PROCLAMATION: Initiated by Mayor Gibson
Recognizing Mount Carmel Elementary School as a Tennessee Reward School



NOTES

In Tennessee, schools are recognhized as a Reward school when they demonstrate high
levels of performance and/or improvement in performance. In 2023-24, schools earn
Reward status based on their performance on the federal accountability system—A
school is recognized as a Reward school when (1) it has an overall school score of 3.1
or higher in accordance with the federal accountability calculation; and (2) is not
identified as a Comprehensive Improvement School (CSI), Targeted Support and
Improvement School (TSI), or Additional Targeted Support and Improvement (ATSI)
school.

377 schools are identified as Reward schools for the 2023-24

2023-24 Mount Carmel Elementary School also received a 5 School-Wide
Literacy Score, 5 School-Wide Numeracy Score, and a 5 School-Wide Composite
Score, and received an A Rating from the Tennessee Department of Education,



MOUNT CARMEL

A /J/aoe Z pat dowrr soaZl

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: May 22, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: TDOT Reimbursement Contract

SUMMARY: ‘

Discussion and Consideration of a contract between TDOT and the Town of Mount Carmel
for reimbursement of routine maintenance of state routes. This is a continuation of an
existing relationship between TDOT and the Town. The prior contract was from 2023-2025.
The new contract covers 2025-2027. Total reimbursement amount is $74,651.94 (same
amount as prior contract).

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

$74,651.94 in revenue, split over FY26 and FY27
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval.

ATTACHMENTS:

“Contract Between the State of Tennessee, Department of Transportation and The City of
Mount Carmel”



CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
AND
THE CITY OF MOUNT CARMEL

This Contract, by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Transportation, hereinafter
referred to as the ‘State” and the city of Mount Carmel, hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor,” is for
the provision of the routine maintenance of state routes, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF
SERVICES."

Contractor Edison Registration ID # 0000002588
Contract #: CMA 2618

A. SCOPE OF SERVICES:

A1, The Contractor shall provide all service and deliverables as required, described, and detailed
herein and shall meet all service and delivery timelines as specified by this Contract.

A2 Tenn. Code Ann. § 54-5-201 provides that the State is authorized to enter into contracts with
municipalities regarding the improvement and maintenance of streets over which traffic on state
highways is routed.

A3. Tenn. Code Ann. § 54-5-202 provides that streets constructed, reconstructed, improved and
maintained by the State shall be of a width and type that the State deems proper, but the width so
constructed, reconstructed, improved and maintained shall not be less than eighteen feet (18');
and, in the case of resurfacing and maintenance, from curb to curb where curbs exist, or the full
width of the roadway where no curbs exist.

AA4. Tenn. Code Ann. § 54-5-203 provides that the State is authorized to enter into contracts with
municipalities that are organized to care for streets to reimburse, subject to the approval of the
State, for improvements and maintenance.

A5, Tenn. Code Ann. § 54-16-106 provides that the highway authorities of the state, counties, cities,
and town are authorized to enter into agreements with each other respecting the improvement
and maintenance of controlled-access facilities, defined by Tenn. Code Ann. § 54-16-101 as a
highway or street specially designed for through traffic, and over, from or to which owners or
occupants of abutting land or other persons have no right or easement of access from abutting
properties.

A.6. Tenn. Code Ann. § 54-5-139 provides that the State may enter into a contract with a qualified
county to perform maintenance activities upon the rights-of-way of state highways located outside
of municipalities and metropolitan governments; and, that the reimbursement shall be on an
actual cost basis.

AT, The State is hereby contracting with the Contractor for the improvements and maintenance
specified in Attachment “Exhibit A” titled “Guidelines Covering Maintenance of State Highways
through Municipalities,” attached and incorporated hereto as part of this Contract.

B. TERM OF CONTRACT:
This Contract shall be effective on July 1, 2025 (“Effective Date”), and extend for a period of

twenty-four (24) months after the Effective Date (“Term”). The State shall have no obligation for
goods or services provided by the Contractor prior to the Effective Date.



c.2.

C.3.

PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:

Maximum Liability. In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Contract
exceed seventy-four thousand six hundred fifty-one dollars and ninety-four cents ($74,651.94).
The payment rates in section C.3 shall constitute the entire compensation due the Contractor for
all service and Contractor obligations hereunder regardless of the difficulty, materials or
equipment required. The payment rates include, but are not limited to, all applicable taxes, fees,
overheads, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred by the Contractor.

The Contractor is not entitled to be paid the maximum liability for any period under the Contract or
any extensions of the Contract for work not requested by the State. The maximum liability
represents available funds for payment to the Contractor and does not guarantee payment of any
such funds to the Contractor under this Contract unless the State requests work and the
Contractor performs said work. In which case, the Contractor shall be paid in accordance with
the payment rates detailed in section C.3. The State is under no obligation to request work from
the Contractor in any specific dollar amounts or to request any work at all from the Contractor
during any period of this Contract.

Compensation Firm. The payment rates and the maximum liability of the State under this
Contract are firm for the duration of the Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason
unless amended.

Payment Methodology. The Contractor shall be compensated based on the payment rates herein
for units of service authorized by the State in a total amount not to exceed the Contract Maximum
Liability established in section C.1.

a. The Contractor’s compensation shall be contingent upon the satisfactory completion of
units, milestones, or increments of service defined in section A.

b. The Contractor shall be compensated for said units, milestones, or increments of service
based upon the following payment rates:

Amount

SenvicePescription (per compensable increment)

“Exhibit A" titled “Guidelines Covering Maintenance of State See Exhibit A

Highways through Municipalities”

“Exhibit B” containing the maximum allowable labor and See Exhibit B

equipment rates.

cA.

C.5.

Travel Compensation. The Contractor shall not be compensated or reimbursed for travel, meals,
or lodging.

Invoice Requirements. The Contractor shall invoice the State only for completed increments of
service and for the amount stipulated in section C.3, above, and present said invoices no more
often than monthly, with all necessary supporting documentation, to:

Daniel Singleton
1825 State Street
Morristown, TN 37814

a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information
(calculations must be extended and totaled correctiy).

(N Invoice Number (assigned by the Contractor)
(2) Invoice Date




C.6.

C.7.

C.8.

C.9.

(3) Contract Number (assigned by the State)

(4) Customer Account Name: Tennessee Department of Transportation

(5) Customer Account Number (assigned by the Contractor to the above-referenced
Customer)

(6) Contractor Name

(7 Contractor Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble

of this Contract
) Contractor Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, and/or fax)
) Contractor Remittance Address
0)  Description of Delivered Service
1) Complete Itemization of Charges, which shall detail the following:

i Service or Milestone Description (including name & title as applicable) of
each service invoiced

ii. Number of Completed Units, Increments, Hours, or Days as applicable,
of each service invoiced

iii. Applicable Payment Rate (as stipulated in Section C.3.) of each service

invoiced
iv. Amount Due by Service
V. Total Amount Due for the invoice period
b. The Contractor understands and agrees that an invoice under this Contract shall:

(1 include only charges for service described in Contract Section A and in
accordance with payment terms and conditions set forth in Contract Section C;

(2) only be submitted for completed service and shall not include any charge for
future work;

(3) not include sales tax or shipping charges; and

(4) initiate the timeframe for payment (and any discounts) only when the State is in
receipt of the invoice, and the invoice meets the minimum requirements of this
section C.5.

Payment of Invoice. A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or
question any payment, invoice, or matter in relation thereto. A payment by the State shall not be
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any
amount invoiced.

Invoice Reductions. The Contractor's invoice shall be subject to reduction for amounts included
in any invoice or payment theretofore made which are determined by the State, on the basis of
audits conducted in accordance with the terms of this Contract, not to constitute proper
remuneration for compensable services.

Deductions. The State reserves the right to deduct from amounts, which are or shall become due
and payable to the Contractor under this or any contract between the Contractor and the State of
Tennessee any amounts, which are or shall become due and payable to the State of Tennessee
by the Contractor.

Prerequisite Documentation. The Contractor shall not invoice the State under this Contract until
the State has received the following documentation properly completed.

a. The Contractor shall complete, sign, and present to the State the "Authorization
Agreement for Automatic Deposit Form" provided by the State. By doing so, the
Contractor acknowledges and agrees that, once this form is received by the State,
payments to the Contractor, under this or any other contract the Contractor has with the
State of Tennessee, may be made by ACH; and

b. The Contractor shall complete, sign, and return to the State the State-provided W-9 form.
The taxpayer identification number on the W-9 form must be the same as the



D.2.

D.3.

D.4.

D.5.

D.6.

D.7.

D.8.

Contractor's Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number
referenced in the Contractor’'s Edison registration information.

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS:

Required Approvals. The State is not bound by this Contract until it is signed by the contract
parties and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this contract, said officials may include, but are not
limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury).

Modification and Amendment. This Contract may be modified only by a written amendment
signed by all parties hereto and approved by both the officials who approved the base contract
and, depending upon the specifics of the contract as amended, any additional officials required by
Tennessee laws and regulations (said officials may include, but are not limited to, the
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the
Comptroller of the Treasury).

Termination for Convenience. The State may terminate this Contract without cause for any
reason. Said termination shall not be deemed a breach of contract by the State. The State shalll
give the Contractor at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective termination date.
The Contractor shall be entitled to compensation for satisfactory, authorized service completed as
of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable to the Contractor for
compensation for any service which has not been rendered. Upon such termination, the
Contractor shall have no right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any
other damages whatsoever of any description or amount.

Termination for Cause. If the Contractor fails to properly perform its obligations under this
Contract in a timely or proper manner, or if the Contractor violates any terms of this Contract, the
State shall have the right to immediately terminate the Contract and withhold payments in excess
of fair compensation for completed services. Notwithstanding the above, the Contractor shall not
be relieved of liability to the State for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Contract
by the Contractor.

Subcontracting. The Contractor shall not assign this Contract or enter into a subcontract for any
of the services performed under this Contract without obtaining the prior written approval of the
State. If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a minimum, sections
of this Contract below pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," "Nondiscrimination," and “Records” (as
identified by the section headings). Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the
Contractor shall be the prime contractor and shall be responsible for all work performed.

Conflicts of Interest. The Contractor warrants that no part of the total Contract Amount shall be
paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages,
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or
consultant to the Contractor in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to
this Contract.

Nondiscrimination. The Contractor hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be
excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination
in the performance of this Contract or in the employment practices of the Contractor on the
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other
classification protected by Federal, Tennessee State constitutional, or statutory law. The
Contractor shall, upon request, show proof of such nondiscrimination and shall post in
conspicuous places, available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination.

Records. The Contractor shall maintain documentation for all charges under this Contract. The
books, records, and documents of the Contractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or
money received under this Contract, shall be maintained for a period of three (3) full years from
the date of the final payment and shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time and upon



D.o.

D.10.

D.11.

D.12.

D.13.

D.14.

D.15.

D.16.

D.17,

D.18.

reasonable notice by the State, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or their duly appointed
representatives. The financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Prevailing Wage Rates. All contracts for construction, erection, or demolition or to install goods
or materials that involve the expenditure of any funds derived from the State require compliance
with the prevailing wage laws as provided in Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 12-4-401 et
seq..

Monitoring. The Contractor’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this
Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives.

Progress Reports. The Contractor shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as
requested.

Strict Performance. Failure by any party to this Contract to insist in any one or more cases upon
the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Contract
shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of any such term, covenant, condition, or
provision. No term or condition of this Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted
except by a written amendment signed by the parties hereto.

Independent Contractor. The parties hereto, in the performance of this Contract, shall not act as
employees, partners, joint venturers, or associates of one another. It is expressly acknowledged
by the parties hereto that such parties are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this
Contract shall be construed to create a employer/employee relationship or to allow either to
exercise control or direction over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business
affairs or provides its usual services. The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed
or construed to be the employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.

The Contractor, being a Tennessee governmental entity, is governed by the provisions of the
Tennessee Government Tort Liability Act, Tennessee Code Annotated, Sections 29-20-101 et
seq., for causes of action sounding in tort. Further, no contract provision requiring a Tennessee
political entity to indemnify or hold harmless the State beyond the liability imposed by law is
enforceable because it appropriates public money and nullifies governmental immunity without
the authorization of the General Assembly.

State Liability. The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Contract.
Force Majeure. The obligations of the parties to this Contract are subject to prevention by causes
beyond the parties’ control that could not be avoided by the exercise of due care including, but

not limited to, natural disasters, riots, wars, epidemics, or any other similar cause.

State and Federal Compliance. The Contractor shall comply with all applicable State and Federal
laws and regulations in the performance of this Contract.

Governing Law. This Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of Tennessee. The Contractor agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Confract.
The Contractor acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising therefrom, shall be subject to
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tennessee Code Annotated,
Sections 9-8-101 through 9-8-407.

Completeness. This Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between the
parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions of
the parties’ agreement. This Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings,
representations, negotiations, and agreements between the parties relating hereto, whether
written or oral.



D.18.

D.20.

E.2,

E.3.

Severability. If any terms and conditions of this Contract are held to be invalid or unenforceable
as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions hereof shall not be affected thereby and shalll
remain in full force and effect. To this end, the terms and conditions of this Contract are declared
severable.

Headings. Section headings of this Contract are for reference purposes only and shall not be
construed as part of this Contract.

SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:

Conflicting Terms and Conditions. Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with
any other terms and conditions of this Contract, these special terms and conditions shall control.

Communications and Contacts. All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other
communications required or contemplated by this Contract shall be in writing and shall be made
by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight courier
service with an asset tracking system, or by EMAIL or facsimile transmission with recipient
confirmation. Any such communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be
addressed to the respective party at the appropriate mailing address, facsimile number, or EMAIL
address as set forth below or to that of such other party or address, as may be hereafter specified
by written notice.

The State:

Daniel Singleton

District 17 Operations Supervisor

State of Tennessee Department of Transportation
1825 State Street

Morristown, TN 37814

Daniel.Singleton@tn.gov

Telephone # (423) 587-7026

FAX # (423) 317-0946

The Contractor:

Tyler Williams

Assistant City Manager/ Recorder
City of Mount Carmel

100 E Main Street, PO Box 1421
Mount Carmel, TN 37645

P: (423) 357-7311
Tyler.williams@mountcarmeltn.gov

All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required.

Subject to Funds Availability. The Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability of State
and/or Federal funds. In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate the Contract upon written notice to the
Contractor. Said termination shall not be deemed a breach of Contract by the State. Upon
receipt of the written notice, the Contractor shall cease all work associated with the Contract.
Should such an event occur, the Contractor shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory
and authorized services completed as of the termination date. Upon such termination, the
Contractor shall have no right to recover from the State any actual, general, special, incidental,
consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of any description or amount.




E.4. MUTCD. In accordance with Tenn. Code Ann. 54-5-108, the Contractor shall conform to and act
in accordance with the current edition of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD)
as adopted by rules of the State. Particularly, the Contractor shall sign work-zones associated
with this Contract in accordance with the aforesaid MUTCD.

E.5. Maintenance. Nothing contained in this Contract shall change the maintenance obligations
governed by the laws of the State of Tennessee, it being the intent of this Contract not to enlarge
the present maintenance obligations of the State.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF,

THE CITY OF MOUNT CARMEL:

CONTRACTOR SIGNATURE DATE

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTOR SIGNATORY (above)

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY

CONTRACTOR ATTORNEY SIGNATURE DATE

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF CONTRACTOR ATTORNEY SIGNATORY (above)

STATE OF TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION:

HOWARD H. ELEY, COMMISSIONER DATE

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY

LESLIE SOUTH, GENERAL COUNSEL DATE



Rev. 03-11-2025

“EXHIBIT A”

GUIDELINES COVERING MAINTENANCE

OF STATE HIGHWAYS THROUGH MUNICIPALITIES

Page 1 of 7

The following items, where applicable, are eligible for reimbursement by the State to the Contractor under the Standard Maintenance

Agreement:
Activity Maintenance Work Type Unit Of Measure

401 Manual Spot Patching Tons
402 Crack Repair Pounds
404 Mechanical Continuous Patching Tons
405 Milling Square Yards
406 Surface Replacement Tons
411 Concrete Pavement Repair Cubic Yards
412 Concrete Joint Repair Linear Feet
425 Grading Unpaved Surface (Shoulder)** Linear Miles
427 Patching Unpaved Surface (Shoulder)™ Tons
435 Machine Mowing™** Acres
438 Debris Removal** Man Hours
441 Litter Removal** Roadway Miles
446 Mechanical Sweeping and Street Flushing Miles
447 Manual Roadway Sweeping Man Hours
460 Plowing Snow Lane Miles
461 De-icing Salt and/or Sand for Snow & Ice Removal | Tons
463 Anti-icing (Salt Brine) Gallons
470 Pavement Markings Line Miles
471 Specialty Markings Each

** \Work must be inside the area eligible for reimbursements as detailed in "CITY MAINTENANCE
ROADWAY TYPICAL SECTIONS".

The following items are the responsibility of the Contractor and are not eligible for reimbursement by the State:

—

Mowing right-of-way back of curbs or beyond edge of paved surface on roadway segments which are not access controlled.

2. Litter from right-of-way back of curbs or beyond edge of paved surface on roadway segments which are not access
controlled.

3. Storm drainage

4. Traffic control signs and signals and any other traffic control or monitoring devices.

5. Street lighting

6. Street name signs

7. Tree removal and vegetation control on right-of-way back of curbs or beyond edge of paved surface on roadway segments
which are not access controlled.

8. Sidewalks

NOTE:

1. Major resurfacing when generally required will be performed by the State as a construction project, in accordance with a
program developed after consultation with the Contractor.

2. The State will furnish and maintain route markers through the Municipalities.

1



V 119IHXd

19Z2S | :a0epng Aempeoy jejoL 09%'9 (1w) yybua jejo)
196185 |0 £€¢ 896.22 |81l 9G'¢cl ON al yoInyd ‘W'n lleH puelo|  NI934 peoy As|leA SIBHED | 9PENS
L9v0L'¥6  [90S62 86 Zs€ll 68'6¢ 1S SBA V| Peoy eyelenligio)sed )0 NID3g MLl SN| LOOYS
(zv'PA) eONY (zvph) Cyuipw | (W)wpom | (W)wiBust| o ollN  |lonu0D adf)]  [uonduosaq Aipunog Buissolp| uonsy alueN }a9.g ajnoy
a|qisinquiay | ealy ueipsiy | uelpay | Aempeoy | Aempeoy | Bo pug | Bo Bag |ssaday |ajloid “Apy
199U S)JOM\ A1OjuaAuy aosepng Aempeoy

¥2'892'LG§ |:(e0epNng ABmMpeoy) JusWSINGUISY WNIKXEN |8)oL

1€'%88'6Z$ |[(s0epng Aempeoy) jusliesingLuiay |enuuy WNWXE palenoled

192¢S1L [(2vA) 21V 80epNG ABMpeoy [Bj0L

/10 ¢ |:piej alenbg lad juswasinquiiay wnwixey paroiddy

*M0]2q JUIUIASINUILST

WIMUIIXEW PAIRINOTED ST PIIoXa 0} J0U [BAOUISL JOWI] PUe JUIMOW JUIYOBW FUIPNIXS ‘9oURUSIUIRUI 1991S 10} papuadxa A[[enyoe junotue Stj) UI J0}OBIUO)) PIes asInquiral
0] s0015% 211 OY ], JOBIUOS SIY) JO SULIS} SY) ISPUN J0}OENUO)) 3y} Aq paysn[j 1o ‘ydoms ‘paurejurens A[aunnol aq [[eYs Mo[aq PIISI $ANOY "PIIQNOP 3q I+ sanuenb Furmofoy
3y 90e1UO0 YIUON-Z © 104 "PIeA a1enbs 9[0yM 3sa1eau oy} 0} porrdd YIUOTA-Z[ € Ul PIUTLIUTEU 3 0} BIIE JDBJANS ABMPEOI [£30) JUSLIND Y} SIZIWN 3[qe,], FUIMO[[0] SY ],

LJo g o8eq

SAILITVAIDINAW HONOYHL SAVMHOIH HLVLS 40
HONVNHLINIVIA HHL J0d AYOLINHANI HOVALANS AVAAVOL

ST0T-11-£0 "A%Y



V LIGIHXH

rAd) i(saloe) eary joejjuo) jejo ]
P8 L¥l 9 ¥9'€e vG' Ll 19 68'6¢ v.'/lE \ {4 L00YS
(setoe) |sejahy Bumopy (seauoe) (seioe) eany (saioe) (W1)uwie) pug (W) 1uie ) uibag adA | Jaquinp
Baly |ejo) | josaqunp Balv |eJo) | ss920y pajjosuog | eary uelpapy Aempeoy | ajnoy
juswbag juswboag
JoeJuOY
198ysyiom Aiojusau| Buimopy

103 papuadxa Ajpeniow Junowe o
IV "Pa|qnop aq [jim sanguenb §

L Jo g o8eq

[} UL 1030eU07) PIEs 9SINGUIDT 0f s901de NS AL 1
ULMOT[OF 313 JOBU0D YIUOIA-+7 © 10, ‘poriad yyuopy

0000Z'tL $
00°00L'. $
00'0S $

SHLLITVAIDINAN HONOYHL SAVMHDIH ALVIS 40

810V Jad Juslissinquisy Bumopy panoiddy

:(Buimoyy) juswesinquiley wnwixey je3o )
‘(Buimopy) Juswesinquwitey jenuuy wnwixel pejenojen

‘MO[aq payelap se atoe 1ad aand 241 pue 531240 Jo Jaquinu 2y Ps20%2 0y J0u
QE[UOD 81 JO SULIS) 21 1apun loenuo) sy Aq paurejurens
=Tl ® Ul pautejuieus 3g o) sa.oe ur edae Surmounr a[qiFie ay

HONVNAINIVIN HHL 404 DNIMOW HNIHDOVIA 4T4ID1Td 40 AJOLNAANI

‘Surmour aurgoew
2q [[eqs seare Suimour a[qiFiyo
} Saziwat a[qe, Surmoryoy ay g

STOT-11-€0 "Aoyg



V 119IHXH

09'L¥E'¥$ |21 ¥2 :(1w) Japi joenuUO) jejo L

09'LYEYS |2L'¥2 Zl 0009 $ |€09 € 102 68'6E 2K vZ| 100YS
%) () Jeq| sapAn  |ayN Jen () Jepiy| uswbeg | (w) wbusT (W) uuwae | Buipugy (W) luwaa | Buuuibeg adA ) JaquinN

Japit|ejol lejo L 19131 Jad asud lejo L 19d S9N juawbog Kempeoy anoy

juawbag | juswbag |jo JaquinN juawbag | ssed 1901

joenu0) | JoeNUOD

Jo0YSHIOM AlojJuaAu] 181

02'€89'8

$ [:(1ep17) uswWasINquiIay WNWIXel [e10.L

09'LvE Y

¢ |:(JapI) Wawasmquisy [enuuy wnwixep psiensen

0009

$

:9|IN Jod Juswasinquiisy Jani perociddy

-M0[9q Pa|reIdp se atur eaur| Jad oot1d a1} pue s3[0A0 JO IAQUINT Y PIIIXS 0] 10U ‘[BAOWIAI 1aY1[ 10] papuadxs AJjenioe Junowe 3y Ul 10j0e3U0)
ples 9SINQUITSI 0} §921F8 Q1B YL, "JOBRLUOO SIY} JO SULISY Yy ISpUN SI[T Jeauy] S[qISIe [[e Ulejulewl [[eys I0j0eIUO0)) ST, ‘PAIqnop 3q [[is ssuyuenb Juimorjoy sy} joenuod
UON-Z © 104 "pIRA axenbs o[oym j1sa1esu ayy 03 porrad YIUOA-Z[ & Ul PIUIE)UIEHI 3q 0) SIINI JLIUI] Wl [BAOTWAI X3N] JO YIFua] S[qIS1[o Y} SOZIUISY S[qe], SUIMO[[O] YL,

SHLLI'TVdAIDINNIN HONOYHIL SAVMHDIH H1V.LS 40
AONVNAHLNIVIN HHL Y04 TVAONWHYE JALLITATIIOITH 4O AYOINHANI
LJo y 33eq

ST0T-T11-¢0 "AsY



Rev. 03-11-2025

EXHIBIT A

Page 5 of 7

CITY MAINTENANCE
ROADWAY TYPICAL SECTIONS

ROADWAY
ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENTS

Paved Surface Paved Surface

FIGURE 1A
j

NON-ACCESS CONTROLLED
UNDIVIDED ROADWAY

ROADWAY
ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENTS
Paved Surface Paved Surfoce
P — -~ FIGURE 1B
NON-ACCESS CONTROLLED
UNDIVIDED ROADWAY
ROADWAY
ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENTS
Shoulder| Paved Surface Paved Surface |Shoulder,
;‘6\ FIGURE 1C
NON-ACCESS CONTROLLED e
UNDIVIDED ROADWAY
WITHOUT CURSB
NOTE: IN FIGURES tA, 18, AND 1C FOR NON-CONTROLLED ROUTES
THE PAVED SURFACE WILL INCLUDE PAVED SHOULDERS.
ROADWAY
ELIGIBLE FOR REIMBURSEMENTS
Paved Surface Paved Surfoce
NON-ACCESS CONTROLLED
UNDIVIDED ROADWAY
WITH CURB
ROADWAY
ELIGIELE FOR REIMBURSEMENTS
Paved Surface - . Paved Surface
l 1 Area Eljgible for
Mowing and Litter
Reimburssnant
FIGURE 1E

5

NON-ACCESS CONTROLLED
DIVIDED ROADWAY
WITH CURB



Page 6 of 7

Rev. 03-11-2025

CITY MAINTENANCE
ROADWAY TYPICAL SECTIONS

‘SYIAINOHS Q3AVd IANTINL 1T1M 30V44NS Q3AYd IHL
$31N0Y Q3TT0HLINOI SSTIIV-NON HOA J1 ONVY 41 S3HNOTH 4]
‘310N

BYN) LNOHLIM AYMOVOM 930:A1Q
A3770HINOD $S330V-NON

91 3HN914

\\\\/

JUBWBS JNaW | by
SBLL T PUD BupmcH
-3 8iq18 13 valy

RYIG3W HiQIM 378vINv.

BI04 NS pRADY — QRO ING PEAD]

SININISHNEMI3Y 804 31910]1 713
ANMOYOH

BYNJ HLIM AVMQOYOY Q3QIAIGQ
037704.LNOD SS3IIV-NON

41 34Na14

HUBLRS.INQU | By
48LLT PUD Bu Moy
404 21918 (3 ceuy

NYIO3IN HLOIM 379v14vA

|
99035 peADy oS | "aius’ BI0) NS POADY

SINIAISENANTIY ¥04 37319773
AVROVOY

EXHIBIT A



Page 7 of 7

CITY MAINTENANCE
ROADWAY TYPICAL SECTIONS

Rev. 03-11-2025

8¢ 34N9I13
T~
Q3aIAIQNN
£5323v d3N1041NQD
LINTY LINLT
AYM-30-1H91Y sk AVM- 40-1HOIY
% Q %
ovoy avoy
J9VINGY S | i EHLALLE]
¥0 T aapineus 8204JNS POADY " @003JNS PeADd ean4ang peasnd ' 38D | NAUS ¥0
JINIS El L EF]
$6300v SS$3J0V
03170YLNOD G37104LNOD
SININISYNBNIIN ¥04 38[91T3
AVMAVOY
ve 34n9old
NVIQ3IN HLIM
SS323Y d3710YLNOD
: |t1\\\\\\\\\\\\ ||L\\\\rxfrff!:rz
LINLY
AYM-JO-LHDIY LININ
¥O ru na1m_ rndxm AVM-30-1HALY
avos A INOWS @20y NS Paadd GODLANE PBAGY  JBPINOUT Yo
30VINOY S NYIO3N HLIOIM 3T8VI8VA ) i
¥0 FAVINGHA
22 .
JINIA
J37704LNOI §S309Y
A371708LNOD

SLNINISYNBATIY y¥od4 3191713
AVAOYOH

EXHIBIT A



"EXHIBIT B"
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE EQUIPMENT RATES

2025-2027 FISCAL YEAR

ITEM

NO. DESCRIPTION OF EQUIPMENT RATE UNIT
1 SEDAN, POLICE OR FULL SIZE 12.00 HR
2 TRUCK, PICKUP 11.00 HR
3 TRUCK, % TO 1 TON LIGHT DUTY 12.00 HR
4 TRUCK, % TO 1 TON 4X4 13.00 HR
5 TRUCK, UTILITY/SERVICE BODY 14.00 HR
6 TRUCK, DUMP UP TO 15,000 GVWR 24.65 HR
7 TRUCK, DUMP OVER 15,000 UP TO 20,000 GVWR 28.12 HR
8 TRUCK, DUMP OVER 20,000 UP TO 40,000 GVWR 42.35 HR
9 TRUCK, DUMP TANDEM AXLE OVER 40,000 GVWR 68.00 HR
10 TRUCK, STAKE OR FLATBED UP TO 10,000 GVWR 17.45 HR
11 TRUCK, STAKE OR FLATBED OVER 10,000 UP TO 20,000 GVWR 26.10 HR
12 TRUCK, STAKE OR FLATBED OVER 20,000 42.00 HR

13 TRUCK, FLATBED OVER 32,500 GVWR 54.00 HR
14 TRUCK, TRACTOR SINGLE AXLE 37.00 HR
15 TRUCK, TRACTOR TANDEM AXLE 40.15 HR
16 TRUCK, SEWER/CULVERT/CATCH BASIN/ CLEANER (VAC-ALL) 82.20 HR
17 SWEEPER, TRUCK MOUNTED 55.89 HR
18 SWEEPER, SELF-PROPELLED 43.71 HR
19 TRUCK, W/STREET FLUSHER 70.16 HR
20 TRUCK, CRANE 28.28 HR
21 TRUCK, EXCAVATOR 64.73 HR
22 TRUCK, REFUSE COLLECTION 30.50 HR
23 TRACTOR, W/SWEEPER 32.68 HR
24 TRACTOR, W/DITCHER 62.12 HR
25 TRACTOR, WHEEL 48.22 HR
26 CHIPPER, BRUSH 36.81 HR
27 TRAILER, TILT 8.04 HR
28 TRAILER, PLATFORM OR GENERAL 10.12 HR
29 TRAILER, LOW BOY TANDEM 20.78 HR
30 JOINT & CRACK SEALING MACHINE 28.55 HR
31 ASPHALT RECLAIMER/RECYCLER MACHINE 135.78 HR
32 PAVER, ASPHALT SELF-PROPELLED 154.53 HR
33 PAVER, ASPHALT PULL TYPE 7.45 HR
34 DISTRIBUTOR, ASPHALT, PULL TYPE 27.37 HR
35 CHIP SPREADER MACHINE 57.42 HR
36 EXCAVATOR, TRACK TYPE (TRACKHOE) 87.31 HR




"EXHIBIT B"
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE EQUIPMENT RATES

2025-2027 FISCAL YEAR

DESCRIPTION OF EQUIPMENT RATE UNIT
37 DRAGLINES AND CRANES 75.99 HR
38 TRACTOR, CRAWLER (DOZER) 98.18 HR
39 MOTOR GRADER 65.30 HR
40 BACKHOE 37.90 HR
41 LOADER, FT END RUBBER TIRED (ARTICULATED) UP TO 1 CU. YD. 32.13 HR
42 LOADER, FT END RUBBER TIRED (ARTICULATED) OVER 1 UP TO 1.5 CY 47.50 HR
43 LOADER, FT END RUBBER TIRED (ARTICULATED) OVER 1.5 CU. YD. 59.71 HR
44 LOADER, FRONT END TRACK TYPE 71.50 HR
45 LOADER, SKID-STEER 58.46 HR
46 PROFILER, MILLING MACHINE 305.76 HR
47 ROLLER, WALK BEHIND 427 HR
48 ROLLER, STEEL WHEEL, 1 TO 5 TONS 88.84 HR
49 ROLLER, STEEL WHEEL, OVER 5 TONS 41.93 HR
50 GENERATOR, PORTABLE 8.30 HR
51 AIR COMPRESSOR, PORTABLE OR PULL TYPE 36.40 HR
52 WELDER, PORTABLE OR PULL TYPE 5.76 HR
53 CONCRETE MIXER, PORTABLE OR PULL TYPE 32.07 HR
54 CURBING MACHINE 65.74 HR
55 PAINT MACHINE, WALK BEHIND 31.57 HR
56 PAINT MACHINE, TRUCK MOUNTED (LARGE) 84.61 HR
57 THERMOPLASTIC MARKING MACHINE, WALK BEHIND 23.24 HR
58 TRAFFIC LINE REMOVER (WATER BLASTER) 43.68 HR
59 ARROW BOARD, TRAILER OR TRUCK MOUNTED 4.15 HR
60 MESSAGE SIGN, TRAILER MOUNTED 1.14 HR
61 LIGHT TOWER, TRAILER MOUNTED 24.18 HR
62 TRUCK MOUNTED ATTENUATOR 10.00 HR




"EXHIBIT B"

CITY OF MOUNT CARMEL
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE LABOR RATES

(To be supplied by the City at this time)

Beginning July 1, 2025 and ending June 30, 2027

Job Title Classification Low Rate High Rate




MOUNT CARMEL

\7{ P (rce To s daw.r toodd

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: May 22, 2025

RE: DISCUSSION/CONSIDERATION: FTDD Admin. Agreement-LPRF Grant

SUMMARY:

Discussion and Consideration of an administration agreement between First Tennessee
Development District (FTDD) and the Town of Mount Carmel for FTDD to render
administrative services for the Mount Carmel Park LPRF Grant for park improvements.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):

Administration

FISCAL IMPACT:

$10,000.00 (55,000 grant funded, $5,000 local match). Included in FY26 budget.
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval.

ATTACHMENTS:

“Town of Mount Carmel 2023 TDEC Local Parks and Recreation Fund Grant Mount
Carmel City Park Improvements Administration Agreement”



TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL

2023 TDEC LOCAL PARKS AND RECREATION FUND GRANT

MOUNT CARMEL CITY PARK IMPROVEMENTS
ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT entered into as of May 14, 2025, by and between the Town of Mount
Carmel, Tennessee (hereinafter called the “Town”) and the First Tennessee Development
District (hereinafter called the “Contractor”), WITNESSETH THAT:

WHEREAS, the Town desires to engage the Contractor to render certain technical or
professional administrative services for the Mount Carmel City Park Improvements project
with funding from the Local Parks and Recreation Fund (LPRF) through the Tennessee
Department of Environment and Conservation (TDEC):

NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows:

1) The Town hereby agrees to engage the Contractor and the Contractor hereby agrees
to perform the services hereinafter set forth.

2) The Contractor shall do, perform and carry out, in a satisfactory and proper manner
the following services:

a)

b)

c)

d)

g)

h)

Provide administrative assistance to the Town through staff that is
experienced in the LPRF Program.

Set up administrative record keeping files which will be kept at the
community after administration of the project s completed.

Assist with the engineering selection, environmental review, Title VI
compliance, bid opening, bid tabulations, bid award, preconstruction
conference, and notice of award.

Assist in meeting any contract conditions and securing release of funds.

Assist in establishing procedures for financial management of contract funds.

Prepare and submit any necessary budget amendments.

Assist in meeting Equal Opportunity requirements and construction wage
and employment requirements if applicable.

Monitor submission of weekly payrolls by contractor and subcontractors if
applicable.



3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

i) Monitor records for completeness.

j) Prepare, coordinate and/or submit all necessary reports, forms, and
documents.

k) Perform any and all other technical assistance requested and required by the
Town in completion of their LPRF grant in a timely and proper manner.

All costs and travel charges of the Contractor shall be in accordance with the
allowable amounts set forth in the Uniform Travel regulations adopted by the
Tennessee Development District Association, and the Contractor’s Cost Allocation
Plan. All costs are charged in accordance with the Accounting Manual for Recipients
of Grant Funds in Tennessee prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury of the

State of Tennessee.

The Town, with the assistance of the Contractor, shall maintain documentation for
all expenditures under this Agreement. If applicable, the Town will provide the local
match and pay all bills incurred. The books, records, and documents of the Town,
insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this Agreement,
shall be maintained in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles for
a period of three full years from the date of final payment, and shall be subject to
audit at any reasonable time upon reasonable notice by TDEC. The records shall be
maintained at no less than those recommended in the Accounting Manual for
Recipients of Grant Funds in Tennessee, published by the Comptroller of the
Treasury, State of Tennessee.

It is expressly understood and agreed that based on the scope of the work for this
project the total compensation and reimbursement to be paid hereunder is
$10,000.00 for grant administration costs.

If through any cause, the Contractor shall fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner
its obligations under this agreement, the Town shall thereupon have the right to
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Contractor of such
termination and specifying the effective date thereof, at least thirty (30) days before
the effective date of such termination. In that event, the Contractor shall be entitled
to receive just and equitable compensation for any satisfactory work completed.

In carrying out this Agreement, the Contractor will not discriminate against any
employee or applicant for employment because of disability, race, color, religion,
sex, age, or national origin, or any other classification protected by Federal and/or
State constitutional or statutory law. The Contractor will take affirmative action to
ensure that applicants and employees are treated without regard to their disability,
race, color, religion, sex, age, or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be
limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer;
recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff, or termination; rates of pay or other



forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The
Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and
applicants, notice to be provided by the Town setting forth the provisions of this
non-discrimination clause. The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements
for employees placed by or on behalf of the Contractor; state that all qualified
applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to disability,

race, color, religion, sex, age, or national origin.

8) No officer, member, or employee of the Town and no members of its governing
body, and no other public official of the governing body of the locality who exercises
any functions or responsibilities in the review, approval, or administration of this
Agreement, shall participate in an decision relating to this Agreement which affects
his or her personal interest or have any personal or pecuniary interest, direct or
indirect, in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof.

9) The Contractor covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any
interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner with the
performances of services required under this Agreement. The Contractor further
covenants that in the performance of this Agreement no person having any such
interest shall be employed.

10) The Certification of Contractor form is an attachment to the Administration
Agreement.

11) The term of this agreement shall begin May 14, 2025 and extend to January 31,
2028.

AGREED TO, and executed by the parties’ duly authorized officials, to be effective as of the
date first written above.

TOWN OF MOUNT CARMEL, TENNESSEE

S— By
Date John Gibson, Mayor

ate



TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENT AND CONSERVATION
RECREATION EDUCATIONAL SERVICES
WR Snodgrass TN Tower, 312 Rosa L. Parks Avenue, 2nd Floor, Nashville, TN 37243
PH: 615-532-0748 FAX: 615-532-0732

CERTIFICATION OF CONTRACTOR
REGARDING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST,
LOBBYING, NONDISCRIMINATION, PUBLIC ACCOUNTABILITY,
AND PUBLIC NOTICE

This certification is required by the agency that has funded, in part, by: (check one)

Local Park & Recreation Fund (LPRF) [ Land & Water Conservation Fund (LWCF)
] Recreation Trail Program (RTP) Other

The Contractor, FTDD , by signing and submitting this Certification, acknowledges the following: This
Certification will be incorporated into the Agreement executed between: Town of Mount Carmel  (the Grantee) and the
Contractor.

By signing and submitting this Certification, the Contractor certifies that neither it, its principals nor affiliates has violated
the following:

1. Conflicts of Interest: The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall be paid directly
or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, compensation, or gifts in exchange for
acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work
contemplated or performed relative to this Grant Contract.

2. Lobbying: The Grantee certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that:

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection
with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal
loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal,
amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an
officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-
LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying Activities," in accordance with its instructions.

c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award documents for all
sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants, loans, and
cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was
made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by 31 US.C. §
1352.

3. Nondiscrimination: The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be excluded from
participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination in the performance of this Grant
Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color,

CN-1372 (Rev. 02-16) Pagelof3 RDA 2314



religion, sex, national origin, or any other classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or
statutory law. The Grantee shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous
places, available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination.

4. Public Accountability: If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 ef seq., or if this Grant Contract
involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, the Grantee agrees to establish
a system through which recipients of services may present grievances about the operation of the service program.
The Grantee shall also display in a prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters
in order to receive Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches
(17" in width stating:

NOTICE: THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN AGENCY
DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER TO BE ILLEGAL,
IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S TOLL-FREE HOTLINE: 1-

800-232-5454.

The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury. The Grantor State Agency shall
obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request from the Grantee, provide
Grantee with any necessary signs.

5. public Notice: All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and similar public
notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall include the statement, “This
project is funded under a grant contract with the State of Tennessee.” All notices by the Grantee in relation to this

Grant Contract shall be approved by the State.

6. Records: The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all charges under this
Grant Contract. The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any approved subcontractor, insofar as
they relate to work performed or money received under this Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance
with applicable Tennessee law. In no case shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) full
years from the date of the final payment. The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at any reasonable time
and upon reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of the Treasury, or their duly appointed

representatives.

The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification,
as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting guides.

In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will be maintained in
accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.

Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and procedures and
purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law.

The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by the Tennessee
Comptroller of the Treasury.

The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - Integrated
Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system. The Grantee shall incorporate any
additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control system.

Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall follow the format
designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement Office, or the Commissioner of

Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee.

CN-1372 (Rev. 02-16) Page 2 of 3 RDA 2314



Grantee’s Authorized Representative:

(USUALLY MAYOR)
Signature
John Gibson
Print Name
Mayor
Title
CONTRACTOR: First Tennessee Development District

Mike Harrison

Print Name
Executive Director
Title

5/14/2025

Date

CN-1372 (Rev. 02-16) Page3of3 RDA 2314



MOUNT CARMEL

%/J/acc Ze /zaz‘z/ﬁw vz 400t

LEGISLATIVE MEMORANDUM

TO: Honorable Mayor Gibson, Vice Mayor Bare, and Alderman Gilliam,
Alderman Patrick, Alderman Shugart, Alderman Binstock, Alderman Cross

THRU: James Stables, City Manager

FROM: Tyler Williams, Assistant City Manager/CFO

DATE: May 22, 2025

RE: ORDINANCE NO. 25-541 (First Reading) Retail Package Store Licensing

SUMMARY:

First Reading of Ordinance # 25-541, “An Ordinance To Amend the Code of Ordinances,
Title 8, Relating to Alcoholic Beverages; By Amending Chapter 2 Definition of Beer; By
Amending Chapter 2 By Adding a New Subsection Relating to Special Events Permits for
On Premises Sale of Beer; By Adding 2 New Chapter 3 Relating to Retail Package Store
Licensing; To Fix a Penalty For Violation Thereof; And, To Fix the Effective Date of this
Ordinance”

Ordinance is being brought for consideration as a result of the November 5, 2024 election
where Mount Carmel voters approved a referendum to allow packaged liquor sales within
the town limits.

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT(S):
Administration
FISCAL IMPACT:

Revenue from “Inspection Fee” equal to eight percent (8%) of the wholesale price of
alcoholic beverages supplied by a wholesaler. Other positive economic impacts are possible
from increased traffic and sales.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
N/A, voter referendum
ATTACHMENTS:

Ordinance 25-541



ORDINANCE NO. 5Y/-2025

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF
ORDINANCES, TITLE 8, RELATING TO ALCOHOLIC
BEVERAGES; BY AMENDING CHAPTER 2 DEFINITION
OF BEER; BY AMENDING CHAPTER 2 BY ADDING A
NEW SUBSECTION RELATING TO SPECIAL EVENTS
PERMITS FOR ON PREMISES SALE OF BEER; BY
ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 3 RELATING TO RETAIL
PACKAGE STORE LICENSING; TO FIX A PENALTY
FOR VIOLATION THEREOF; AND, TO FIX THE
EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS ORDINANCE

WHEREAS, Mount Carmel voters approved a referendum on November 5, 2024, to allow packaged liquor

sales within the town limits. Now therefore,

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND ALDERMAN, AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION

SECTION

L That the Code of Ordinances, Title 8, Alcoholic Beverages, Chapter 2, Section 8-206
relating to the definition of beer, be and hereby is amended by deleted it in its
entirety ‘and replacing it with a new Section 8-206 to read as follows:

Section 8-206 “BEER” DEFINED.
Tenn. Code Ann. §57-5-101(b), including all amendments thereto, is hereby adopted by
reference and incorporated in this ordinance as if fully set out herein and shall constitute the

definition of beer.

II. That the Code of Ordinances, Title 8, Alcoholic Beverages, Chapter 2, Section 8-
209, relating to permits for retail sale of beer be and hereby is amended by adding
an additional Subsection (4) relating to Special Events, which Subsection (4) to read
as follows:

(4) A special events permit for the retail sale of beer may be issued to current not-for-profit (as
defined by subsection (a) herein) on-premises permit holders to be effective for periods of time
not exceeding forty-eight (48) hours duration. Such permits shall be issued only for a
community event designated as a special event by the beer board.

(a) A special event is defined as an event held or sponsored by a not for-profit
organization, qualified as tax exempt by §501 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as
amended, held on public or private property (but in no event to be held on municipal park or
school property), the proceeds of said event to be used solely for the benefit of the not-for-profit

Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance ___-2025

Page 1 of 6



SECTION

organization. The location of the event, if to be held on public property, must receive the prior
approval of the board of mayor and alderman.

(b) The special events permit may provide for the sale and consumption of beer in public
or private locations by individuals attending the special event but does not otherwise suspend
the prohibitions of § 8-102 regarding motor vehicles. The special events permit shall provide the
following:

1. The name of the permit holder;

2. The location of the retail sale of beer during the special event;
3. The name of the special event;

4. The duration of the permit.

(c) The application for the special events permit shall be filed with the beer board not
Jater than thirty (30) days prior to the beginning date of the special event accompanied by the
application fee set forth on §8-207.

(d) The board shall designate the geographical location of a special event and any sale
and consumption of beer, sold by a special event permit holder, in a public place, shall be subject
to the provisions of this chapter.

I11. That the Code of Ordinances, Title 8, Alcoholic Beverages, be and hereby is
amended by adding an additional Chapter 3 relating to retail package store licenses,
which chapter to read as follows:

8-301. Alcoholic beverages subject to regulation. It shall be unlawful to engage in the business
of selling, storing, transporting or distributing, or to purchase or possess alcoholic beverages
except as provided by Tennessee Code Annotated, title 57.

8-302. Application for certificate.! Before any certificate, as required by Tennessee Code
Annotated, §57-3-208 shall be signed by the mayor, or by any aldermen, a request in writing
shall be filed with the recorder, giving the following information: (1) Name, age and address of
the applicant. (2) Number of years residence at applicant's address. (3) Whether or not the
applicant has been convicted of a felony in the past ten (10) years.” (4) The location of the
proposed store for the sale of alcoholic beverages. (5) The name and address of the owner of the
store. (6) If the applicant is a partnership, the name, age and address of each partner. If the
applicant is a corporation, the name, age and address of the executive officers, or those who will
be in control of the package store. The information in the application shall be verified by the

1
State law reference Tennessee Code Annotated, §57-3-208

2
State law reference Tennessee Code Annotated, §57-3-208 requires the applicant to submit a

criminal history background report

Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance ___-2025
Page 2 of 6



oath of the applicant. If the applicant is a partnership or a corporation, the application shall be
verified by the oath of each partner, or by the president of the corporation.

8-303. Applicant to agree to comply with laws. The applicant for a certificate of good moral
character shall agree in writing to comply with the state and federal laws, the rules and
regulations of the Tennessee Alcoholic Beverage Commission for sale of alcoholic beverages
and the Code of Ordinances of the Town of Mount Carmel.

8-304. Applicant to appear before board of mayor and aldermen; duty to give information. An
applicant for a certificate of good moral character may be required to appear in person before
the board of mayor and aldermen for such reasonable examination as may be desired by the

board.

8-305. Action on application. Every application for a certificate of good moral character shall
be referred to the chief of police for investigation and to the city/town attorney for review, each
of whom shall submit his findings to the board of mayor and aldermen within thirty (30) days
of the date each application was filed. The board of mayor and aldermen may issue a certificate
of good moral character to any applicant, which shall be signed by the mayor or by a majority
of the board of mayor and aldermen

8-306. Renewal of certificate. A certificate issued under this chapter remains valid unless there
is a change of ownership or location. If either of these events occur, a new certificate must be

obtained. e

8-307. Applicants for certificate who have criminal record. No certificate of good moral
character for the manufacture or sale at wholesale or retail of alcoholic beverages, or for the
manufacture or vinting of wine, shall be issued to any person, (or if the applicant is a
partnership, any partner, or if the applicant is a corporation, any stockholder), who, within ten
(10) years preceding the application for such certificate of good moral character, has been
convicted of any felony or of any offense under the laws of the state or of the United States
prohibiting the sale, possession, transportation, storage or otherwise handling of intoxicating
liquors, or who has during such period been engaged in business, alone or with others, in
violation of such laws.

8-308. Number of retail licenses to be held by retailer. No retail licensee shall, directly or
indirectly, hold more one (1) retail license in the Town of Mount Carmel.

8-309. Where establishments may be located. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate or
maintain any retail establishment for the sale, storage or distribution of alcoholic beverages

State law reference Tennessee Code Annotated, § 57-3-208
a4

State law reference Tennessee Code Annotated, §57-3-406

Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance ___-2025

Page3of 6



except at locations zoned for that purpose. Inno event will a certificate be issued to an applicant
when the location secured for the retail store is within three hundred feet (300) of any school,
residence, church, or other place of public gathering.

8-310. Retail stores to be on ground floor; entrances. No retail store shall be located anywhere
on premises except on the ground floor thereof. Each such store shall have only one (1) main
entrance; provided, that when a store is located on the corner of two (2) streets, such store may
maintain a door opening on each such street; and provided further, that any salesroom adjoining
the lobby of a hotel may maintain an additional door into such lobby as long as the lobby is open
to the public.’

8-311. Limitation on number of retailers.® No more than two (2) retail licenses for the sale of
alcoholic beverages shall be issued under this chapter.

8-312. Sales for consumption on-premises. No alcoholic beverages shall be sold for consumption
on the premises of a retail seller.

8-313. Radios, amusement devices and seating facilities prohibited in retail establishments. No
radios, pinball machines, slot machines or other devices which tend to cause persons to
congregate in such place shall be permitted in any retail establishment. No seating facilities shall
be provided for persons other than employees.

8-314. Inspection fee. There is imposed an inspection fee in the maximum amount allowed by
Tennessee Code Annotated, §57-3-501 on all licensed retailers of alcoholic beverages.

8-315. Violations and penalty. Any violation of this chapter shall constitute a civil offense and
shall, upon conviction, be punishable by a penalty under the general penalty provision of this
code. Upon conviction of any person under this chapter, it shall be mandatory for the municipal
judge to immediately certify the conviction, whether on appeal or not, to the Tennessee
Alcoholic Beverage Commission.

SECTION IV. That the violation of any provision of this ordinance shall be punishable by a penalty of not
more than fifty dollars ($50.00). Each day of violation may constitute a separate offense.

SECTION V. That this ordinance shall take effect from and after the date of its passage and
publication as the law directs.

5

State law reference Tennessee Code Annotated, §57-3-404(f)

6

State law reference Tennessee Code Annotated, §57-3-208(c)

Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance ___-2025
Page 4 of 6



JOHN GIBSON, Mayor

ATTEST:

TYLER WILLIAMS, CMFO, Recorder

Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance ___-2025
Page 5 of 6



1% Reading Motion By:

Second By:

e e e bt e it

Vice Mayor Bare

Alderman Binstock

Alderman Cross
Mayo-r Gil_)s_on
Alderman NGilliam
Alderman Patrick

Alderman Shugart

2™ Reading Motion By:

Ayes Nays

Total

Second By:

Vice Mayoi‘ Bare

Alderman Binstock

Alderman Cross
- Mayor Gibson
. Alderman Gilliam

© Alderman Patrick

~ Alderman Shugart

Ayes Nays

Total -

PASSED FIRST READING: this " day of May, 2025.

PASSED SECOND READING:

this ™ day of June, 2025

ORDINANCE PUBLISHED: this ™ day of June, 2025

Alcoholic Beverage Ordinance ___-2025
Page 6 of 6

Other

Other



